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Part 1

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information

Vital Images desires to take advantage of the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the Reform
Act ) and is filing this cautionary statement in connection with the Reform Act. This Annual Report on Form 10-K and any other written or oral
statements made by us or on our behalf may include forward-looking statements that reflect our current views with respect to future events and
future financial performance. Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are forward-looking statements within the meaning of
Section 27(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. You can identify these forward-looking
statements by our use of the words believes,  anticipates,  forecasts,  projects, could, plans, expects, may, Wwill,

would, intends, estimates and similar expressions, whether in the negative or affirmative. We wish to caution you that any
forward-looking statements made by us or on our behalf are subject to uncertainties and other factors that could cause such statements to be

wrong. We cannot guarantee that we actually will achieve these plans, intentions or expectations. Actual results or
events could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations disclosed in the forward-looking statements
that we make. These statements are only predictions and speak only of our views as of the date the statements were
made. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we
cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, and/or performance of achievements. We do not assume any
obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements that we make, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise.

Factors that may impact forward-looking statements include, among others, our abilities to maintain the technological
competitiveness of our current products, develop new products, successfully market our products, respond to
competitive developments, develop and maintain partnerships with providers of complementary technologies, manage
our costs and the challenges that may come with growth of our business, and attract and retain qualified sales,
technical and management employees. We are also affected by the growth and regulation of the medical technology
industry, including the acceptance of advanced visualization by hospitals, clinics, and universities, product clearances
and approvals by the United States Food and Drug Administration and similar regulatory bodies outside the United
States, and reimbursement and regulatory practices by Medicare, Medicaid, and private third-party payer
organizations. We are also affected by other factors identified in our filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, some of which are set forth in the section entitled Item IA. Risk Factors in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K (and many of which we have discussed in prior filings). Although we have attempted to list
comprehensively these important factors, we also wish to caution investors that other factors may prove to be
important in the future in affecting our operating results. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible
for us to predict all of these factors, nor can we assess the impact each factor or combination of factors may have on
our business.

Item 1. Business

Our Business
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Vital Images, Inc. ( Vital Images, we, us, or our )isaleading provider of advanced visualization and image analysis solutions for use by medica
professionals in clinical analysis and therapy planning for medical conditions. We provide software, customer education, software maintenance
and support, professional services and, on occasion, third-party hardware to our customers. Our technology rapidly transforms complex data
generated by diagnostic imaging equipment into functional digital images that can be manipulated and analyzed using our specialized
applications to better understand internal anatomy and pathology. Our solutions are designed to improve physician workflow and productivity,
enhance the ability to make clinical decisions, facilitate less invasive patient care, and complement often significant capital investments in
diagnostic imaging equipment made by our customers. Our software is compatible with equipment from all major manufacturers of diagnostic
imaging equipment, such as computed tomography ( CT ) scanners, and can be integrated into picture archive and communication systems

( PACS ). Many hospitals use PACS to acquire, distribute and archive medical images and diagnostic reports, reducing the need for film and
increasing reliance on advanced visualization solutions such as ours. We also offer a Web-based solution that provides physicians with
anywhere, anytime access to medical images and visualization tools through any Internet-enabled computer.

We were founded and incorporated in Iowa in September 1988, and we re-incorporated in Minnesota in March 1997. Our principal executive
offices are located at 5850 Opus Parkway, Suite 300, Minnetonka, MN 55343 (telephone (952) 487-9500, facsimile (952) 487-9510, e-mail
info@vitalimages.com ). From May 24, 1994
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through May 11, 1997, we were a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bio-Vascular, Inc., which is now known as Synovis Life Technologies, Inc.

Our corporate website address is www.vitalimages.com. To access our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current
Reports on Form 8-K, other reports and documents filed with or furnished to the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC )
and amendments to these reports free of charge, go to the Investors section of our website, then to the Financial Info & Filings category, and
then to the SEC Filings subcategory, where we make such filings available as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with or
furnished to the SEC. The Corporate Governance category of the Investors section of our website also contains free copies of the Charters for the
Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Governance Committee of our Board of Directors, as well as our Code of Business Conduct

and Ethics, which is our written code of ethics under Section 406 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Each of the above referenced documents

can also be obtained free of charge (other than a reasonable charge for copying exhibits to our reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q or 8-K) in print by

any shareowner who requests them from our investor relations department. The investor relations department s email address is

investorrelations @ vitalimages.com and its mail address is: Investor Relations, Vital Images, Inc., 5850 Opus Parkway, Suite 300,
Minnetonka, MN 55343. Information available on our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

You may also obtain copies of our SEC filings on the SEC s website at www.sec.gov or at the SEC s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street N.E.,
Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

ViTAL Enterprise, introduced in May 2008, enables unlimited enterprise access to the complete ViTAL solution offering,
including Vitrea, Vitrea Web, ViTALConnect and our specialized clinical options. ViTAL Enterprise provides
customers with full access to our best-in-class clinical solutions and comprehensive services, including education,
consulting and maintenance. ViTAL Enterprise has the flexibility to scale to the size of the customer s enterprise by
providing access to the complete ViTAL solution based on unlimited users or concurrent users. Additionally, ViTAL
Enterprise offers customers the ability to license the solution through capital or subscription pricing, and it is available
to our worldwide installed base of existing customers. Going forward, we anticipate an increasing percentage of
license fee revenue will be from sales of ViTAL Enterprise.

Vitrea® software, our flagship software product, is an easy-to-use, intuitive, high-speed volume rendering technology
that creates interactive two-dimensional, or 2D, three-dimensional, or 3D, and four-dimensional, or 4D, images from
information generated by standard CT scanners. Vitrea is commonly deployed on standalone workstations, as well as
on PACS, using standard computer hardware, and provides advanced visualization for radiological, cardiac,
oncological and surgical applications. Vitrea renders vibrant, clear, color images at high speeds and enables users to
interactively navigate within these images to visualize, measure and understand internal structures and disease
conditions. We believe our user interfaces are intuitive, and they are specifically configured to assist physicians in
optimizing their clinical workflow.

Vitrea Web provides users with everywhere access to Vital Images powerful advanced clinical applications via the Web.
With Vitrea Web, customers have the same capabilities of a standalone workstation to review, analyze, and
communicate findings, all from any PC. Vitrea Web enables advanced best of breed clinical applications access
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throughout the healthcare enterprise.

ViTALConnect® software allows multiple physicians to collaboratively use advanced visualization in their medical
practices. It provides radiologists and referring physicians anywhere, anytime access to interactive 2D, 3D and 4D
medical images and the ability to measure, rotate, analyze and segment those images. Our latest release includes
features previously available only on multimodality workstations, such as a variety of multi-planar reformat, or MPR,
modes, thick slab rendering in MPR, 3D volumetric visualization with simple point of interest navigation, 4D dataset
visualization, CT/positron emission tomography, or PET, fusion and advanced analysis tools.
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Advanced visualization options expand the relevance of our products beyond the radiology department to referring physicians and surgical
specialists, particularly in the areas of cardiology, cardiovascular, oncology, neurology and gastroenterology. Our advanced visualization options
allow physicians to customize their software according to their unique requirements. Most options are proprietary; however, ViTAL Enterprise
and Vitrea also serve as an integration platform for applications offered by our visualization technology partners. Our options include:

Vitrea Option Clinical Use

eVscore Quantifies calcium in the four major coronary arteries

oCT Brain Perfusion Analyzes the blood flow of stroke victims

eInnerview GI (virtual COlOHOSCOpy) Locates and analyzes polyps in the colon

eAutomated Vessel Measurements Characterizes the course and dimensions of diseased blood vessels

oCT Cardiac Determines the extent of obstructive coronary artery disease

oSUREP]aque Aids in evaluating, characterizing and quantifying plaque inside the coronary  arteries

eVessel Probe Defines vascular anatomy and the extent of obstruction in vessels other than the
coronary arteries

oCT Lung and Lung Tools Visualizes and measures nodules in the lungs

oImageChecker® CT Detects pulmonary nodules in the chest

eFusion7D Visualizes images and fuse studies from multiple modalities, such as magnetic
resonance, or MR, and PET

oCADstream Analyzes MR breast exams

*QMass MR Analyzes MR cardiac images

EP P]anning 3D advanced visualization and modeling tool for the electrophysiology lab

eCollaboration Enables two users to collaborate while viewing the same study at the same time

oPET/CT Over]ay Provides the ability to overlay PET and CT images with Standardized Uptake = Value

(SUV) calculations

Our software solutions are used with medical diagnostic equipment, primarily in clinical analysis and therapy planning. Our software applies
proprietary technologies to a variety of data supplied by CT scanners to allow medical clinicians to create 2D, 3D and 4D views of human
anatomy and to non-invasively navigate within these images to better visualize and understand internal structures and pathologies. Our main
customers are hospitals and clinics, university medical schools and diagnostic imaging centers. We market our products and services to these
customers both directly through our own sales force and indirectly through digital imaging equipment manufacturers and PACS companies, who
sell our products with other products they either manufacture or acquire from third parties.

Our products work with equipment from all major manufacturers of diagnostic imaging systems, including Toshiba Medical Systems

Corporation ( Toshiba ), GE Healthcare ( GE ), Siemens Medical Systems, Inc. ( Siemens ) and Philips Medical Systems ( Philips ). Our products
may also be integrated into PACS, such as those marketed by McKesson Corporation ( McKesson ) and Sectra AB ( Sectra ), and run on
off-the-shelf third-party computer hardware.

Maintenance and Services

In addition to software products, we provide maintenance and support services, as well as certain other services, such as installation and
customer education. We offer maintenance and support services for our software solutions pursuant to which we provide error correction,
software enhancements, updates and upgrades, telephone support and other general support services.
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Market Opportunity

We believe the number and complexity of advanced medical imaging examinations creates a substantial opportunity for us in the medical
imaging market. Diagnostic CT scanning equipment today is capable of quickly generating thousands of discrete images in a single imaging
exam, which is many times more than were generally attained in such exams as few as five years ago. This substantial data output cannot be
analyzed in a timely or cost-effective manner without the use of digital solutions capable of handling these large data sets efficiently and
accurately. Physicians require advanced visualization solutions that can quickly render 2D, 3D and 4D images to improve their

10
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clinical efficiency and efficacy as healthcare organizations search for ways to increase throughput and gain operational efficiencies in their
day-to-day practices.

While advanced visualization applications are commonly used by radiologists, usage is becoming more widespread among non-radiology
specialties. In general, we expect to benefit as advanced visualization software is used increasingly throughout the healthcare enterprise by
non-radiology clinicians and physicians. Non-radiology clinical specialties are using advanced visualization and analysis tools to improve
productivity and facilitate less invasive patient care. Expanding usage of our products in other clinical specialties, including cardiology,
neurology, women s health, respiratory pulmonary medicine, gastroenterology and surgery, will serve to expand our user base across the
healthcare enterprise. In addition, images are now being used by referring physicians to educate patients, plan treatment and monitor patient
progress.

This shift has created demand for advanced visualization solutions that can be accessed throughout the enterprise. We facilitate enterprise-wide
advanced visualization by distributing images and certain analysis tools directly using VitreaWeb and ViTALConnect which allow remote access
to Vitrea s toolset, as well as through our ability to integrate with PACS and other healthcare information technology systems.

In general, we believe that several macro market trends will drive long-term demand for our products:

. increasing number of imaging exams performed due to the expanded use of CT imaging procedures by
physicians and an aging U.S. population;

. technological advancements enabling CT scanners to generate thousands of images per exam;

. demand from radiologists, non-radiologists and other referring physicians for advanced visualization
solutions that can improve productivity, optimize clinical workflow and enhance treatment planning;

. international markets are still in the early phases of adopting advanced healthcare technology and will
continue to purchase increasingly more advanced healthcare technology as healthcare infrastructure and demand for
advanced services increase;

. increasing use of imaging technology throughout the healthcare enterprise, in part due to the integration of
advanced visualization with healthcare information technology systems; and

. growing importance of integrating advanced visualization and analysis tools into the clinical enterprise to

facilitate collaboration among clinicians and physicians, increase access to information and improve workflow
productivity.

In 2008, as was the case in 2007, market demand for advanced visualization solutions decreased. We believe the decrease in market demand in
2008 was caused primarily by the following factors:

11
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. a general slowdown in hospital purchasing as a result of the global credit crisis and other macroeconomic
factors;
. a reduction in purchases of CT scanners and other imaging related healthcare information technology, as a

result of the broader economic slowdown and its related effect on imaging spending;

. decreases in reimbursement for imaging procedures, typified by the reductions of reimbursement to imaging
centers resulting from the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005;

. reductions in purchases by medical imaging facilities due to reduced profitability for that industry resulting
from increased regulatory requirements and reductions in reimbursement; and

. a maturing of the PACS market, as most large hospitals have previously installed PACS, resulting in the
PACS market being a replacement market instead of a new installation market.

We expect many of the factors affecting the market in 2008 to continue into 2009. Based on current and anticipated 2009 hospital spending
patterns and the condition of the overall economy in the U.S., we expect a decrease in the imaging equipment market and advanced visualization
market in 2009. These factors will affect not only our core customer base of radiologists but all potential users of advanced visualization. At this
time, it is difficult to predict market growth rates beyond 2009. However, until there are improvements in the credit markets and general
availability of debt instruments to help hospitals fund healthcare technology purchases, we expect that the environment will remain challenging.

Strengths

One of our key competitive differentiators from other advanced visualization providers is our focus on, and investment in, developing intuitive,
user-friendly software. Our software is designed to automate common elements

12
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of physician visualization workflow, which makes our software simple to use and facilitates user adoption across a broad range of constituents in
the healthcare enterprise. We believe that workflow automation and general ease-of-use are important factors that customers consider when
choosing our solutions. In addition, we believe that the following additional competitive strengths also contribute to our success:

. our compatibility with all major diagnostic imaging scanners and with many different healthcare information
technologies, including PACS and Electronic Medical Records (EMRs);

. our ability to render integrated 2D, 3D and 4D images at high speeds and with interactive navigation
capabilities using a relatively low-cost standard computer;

. our large installed base of customers and our related commitment to service excellence, which contributes to
our strong recurring revenue stream in the form of ongoing maintenance and support revenue;

. our relationship with Toshiba, through which our products are distributed globally;

. our modular products for digital equipment manufacturers, PACS vendors and end-user customers that can
easily be segmented or integrated into the healthcare information technology environment; and

. our ability to distribute our applications throughout a healthcare enterprise through our Web-based solutions
and extensible infrastructure platform.

Strategy

Our goal is to be a leading provider of advanced visualization and image analysis solutions that we believe can improve clinical outcomes and
reduce the overall cost of healthcare for our customers by improving both physician productivity and patient outcomes. To achieve this goal, we
intend to continue advancing via the following key strategies:

. develop and maintain leading-edge, advanced visualization technology;

. increase penetration of our existing customer base and provide excellent customer service;

. expand our software functionality to appeal to a broader base of users;

. expand our presence in the advanced visualization market by continuing to make our products easy to

integrate with other healthcare information technologies;
. build on and grow our relationship with Toshiba and McKesson;

. grow our business internationally;

13
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. grow our collaborative partnerships with leading medical technology companies; and

. selectively pursue strategic acquisitions.

Marketing and Distribution

‘We market our products both as standalone software packages and as part of integrated software and hardware systems to radiologists, surgeons,
primary care physicians and medical researchers. We market our products directly to end-user customers and through business partners,
including diagnostic imaging equipment manufacturers, PACS companies, and software developers, all of whom sell our products with products
they either manufacture or acquire from third parties.

Our marketing partners include Toshiba, which markets our software to its customers through its subsidiaries and distributors in more than 50
countries throughout the world. Our agreement with Toshiba commenced in 2001, and it has been extended four times, most recently through
December 31, 2013. Sales through Toshiba are a material portion of our revenues, comprising approximately 52% of our 2008 revenues, 47% of
our 2007 revenues, and 41% of our 2006 revenues. See Item 1A. Risk Factors - Dependence on Major Customers.
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We also have marketing and reseller agreements with several other companies, such as McKesson, Sectra and Cerner Corp., under which these
companies may resell our products to their customers as add-on components to their products.

As of December 31, 2008, we had 24 salespeople in the U.S., four salespeople in Europe, one salesperson supporting national accounts, and two
salespeople supporting our international resellers outside of Europe.

Collaborative Relationships

From time to time, we work with leading physicians in our industry to develop advanced clinical applications. These physicians, as well as
information technology professionals who work for our customers, also give us advice and guidance about how we can develop our products to
most effectively operate with other technologies within their enterprises. Further, we typically obtain significant input from our leading
customers about the clinical value of our clinical solutions for given applications.

Competition

The advanced visualization market is highly competitive, subject to rapid change and is significantly affected by new product introductions and
other market activities of industry participants. Our products compete based on a multitude of factors, including quality, performance,
functionality, clinical features, quality of support and service, reputation, brand and price. Our primary competitors are diagnostic imaging
system suppliers, which are typically large, multinational companies with far greater financial and technical resources. They also have
well-established sales and distribution networks for their products. These companies, including GE, Siemens, and Philips, develop and market
medical imaging systems, such as CT and MR equipment, which may be purchased with integrated medical imaging capabilities. Our software
works on the products offered by each of these companies. To win business against equipment manufacturers, we must convince customers to
buy our solution separately from their purchase of imaging equipment instead of buying integrated systems from our competitors. We believe
that we have the largest organization in the world dedicated to developing advanced visualization solutions, as the groups working on
competitive technologies at the equipment manufacturers mentioned above are smaller in relation to our company s operations.

We also face competition from PACS vendors and other suppliers of medical imaging systems and software. PACS companies sometimes
provide medical imaging capability in addition to their image archiving and networking products. Some of the diagnostic equipment
manufacturers, including GE and Philips, also offer PACS. Vendors of hospital, clinical and radiology information systems have also diversified
into the PACS and medical imaging product lines, either through internal development or business development and partnership channels. These
companies, which may be large or small, attempt to offer an integrated system covering a full range of administrative, clinical and radiology
information management capabilities to healthcare providers. Other suppliers of medical imaging systems and software, such as TeraRecon, Inc.,
compete on the basis of volume rendering or other visualization technologies, specific applications or market niches. We are seeing additional
competitors enter our market, but have yet to see these competitors attain a meaningful share of the market.

Our competitive strength is based on several factors, including our ability to do the following:
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. provide differentiated solutions that operate in multi-vendor network and image source environments;

. provide clinical quality, integrated 2D, 3D and 4D images at a high speed with interactive navigation;

. provide solutions that run on commercial, off-the-shelf computer hardware;

. build user interfaces that are easy for physicians and clinicians to use so that they can easily derive value

from our products;

. integrate clinical knowledge from our collaborative clinical partners into our products;
. leverage our visualization and analysis technology across multiple clinical disciplines;
. serve original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), PACS vendors and end-user customers through the

development of a modular end-user product that can easily be segmented for OEM customers or integrated into
various healthcare information technology environments; and

. offer our market-leading clinical applications into the broadening clinical enterprise through a Web-based
architecture.

We believe that product quality, performance, functionality and features, quality of support and service, reputation, brand and price are also
important competitive factors. We believe that customers will prefer our solutions because they are the best-in-class productivity tools for
doctors. Although price has been less significant than other factors, increasing competition in the market may result in price reductions and
reduced gross margins. In particular, if one or more of the diagnostic imaging system suppliers or PACS vendors, many of which have greater
scale and
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resources than we do, provides or distributes more competitive medical imaging products than ours, our business, financial condition and results
of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Customers and Customer Support

Through December 31, 2008, we had a customer install base of approximately 3,600, principally consisting of hospitals and teaching hospitals,
clinics and imaging centers in major cities and smaller population areas.

We are committed to rapid response to customer service requests. Customer support representatives are available during business hours and on
an on-call basis to answer questions about the operation, maintenance and repair of our products.

Intellectual Property

We rely primarily on a combination of trade secret and copyright law, employee and third-party nondisclosure agreements and other protective
measures to protect intellectual property rights pertaining to our products and technologies. Because of the rapid pace of technological change in
the medical software industry, we believe that the knowledge, ability and experience of our personnel; new product developments and
enhancements; and ongoing, reliable product maintenance and support will enhance our competitive position.

We do not own all of the software and other technologies used in our products, but we believe we have the necessary licenses from third parties
to use that technology in our current products. It may be necessary to renegotiate with such third parties for any new versions of current products
or any new products. Such third-party licenses may not be available on reasonable terms, or at all.

Manufacturing and Service

Our manufacturing efforts are limited to the production, quality assurance and distribution of our software, which is distributed on CD-ROM and
through password-protected downloads. After we send software to our customers, it is loaded into hardware, either by our personnel, personnel
from one of our authorized resellers, or our customers personnel. If our personnel load the software, it is as part of our installation services. In
addition to loading software into the hardware, our installation services generally include implementation of our software into customers
computer networks, configuring the network requirements and verifying software operability on site.

We provide customer education services for our customers, both in connection with their acquisition of our software and as independent
purchases. We conduct customer education programs for our software at our headquarters in Minnetonka, Minnesota, at customers locations and
at various designated locations through the United States.
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We rely primarily on our own software development as our core competence. We obtain certain application and utility software from third
parties (see Intellectual Property above) and use a third-party operating system for integrated computer workstations. In addition, we obtain
systems components, computers and computer peripherals from third-party suppliers.

We have also signed reseller distribution agreements that allow us to distribute products from certain third parties. These third-party products
include MeVis Medical Solutions Inc. s ImageChecker® CT software applications for the detection of lung nodules; Mirada Solutions Ltd. s
Fusion 7D software application for the anatomical alignment of two different image data sets from two different types of diagnostic equipment,
such as combining images from CT and PET scanners; Confirma Inc. s CADstream breast MRI software; and Medis Inc. s QMass® MR
software.

Governmental Regulation

As medical devices, our software solutions are subject to extensive and rigorous regulation by numerous governmental authorities, principally

the U.S. Food and Drug Administration ( FDA ) and corresponding foreign agencies. In the United States, the FDA administers the Federal Food,
Drug, and Cosmetic Act, its amendments (the FD&C Act ) and its related regulations. The FD&C Act and these regulations classify medical
devices as Class I, II or III devices, which are subject to general controls, special controls or pre-market approval requirements, respectively.

Most Class I and II devices, as well as some Class III devices, can be cleared for marketing pursuant to a 510(k) pre-market notification. The
process of obtaining a 510(k) clearance typically can take several months to a year or longer.

Class III devices generally require more stringent clinical investigation and pre-market clearance requirements. In such cases, the FDA will
require that the manufacturer submit a pre-market approval ( PMA ) application that must
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be reviewed and approved by the FDA prior to the sale and marketing of the device in the United States. The process of obtaining a PMA can be
expensive, uncertain and lengthy, frequently requiring anywhere from one to several years from the date of FDA submission, if approval is
obtained at all. Moreover, a PMA, if granted, may include significant limitations on the indicated uses for which a product may be marketed.

Our software is classified as a Class II medical device and has received marketing clearances from the FDA as the result of 510(k) pre-market
notifications. Specifically, our software in general release has been cleared to be marketed for use with CT, MR and PET scanners. Future
products, add-on options to existing software, and expanded claims of efficacy will likely require additional 510(k) pre-market notifications.

There can be no assurance that future FDA review processes will not involve delays or that clearances will be granted on a timely basis. In
recent years, the FDA has increased its level of scrutiny of medical devices involving software, which requires us to produce additional
documentation about the safety and effectiveness of our devices in order to obtain regulatory clearance, and which can lengthen the time
required to obtain such clearance. Further, if any of our current or future products become classified as Class III devices, they could be subject
to an even more expensive, uncertain and lengthy approval process, and approval, if granted, could include significant limitations on the
indicated uses for which a product may be marketed.

We are also subject to regulation in foreign countries in which we sell our products. Many of the regulations applicable to our products in such
countries are similar to those of the FDA, but the regulations in several countries, particularly in Asia, may be more particular than those of the
FDA, and significantly greater time and resources may be required to obtain approval in those countries. Our ability to successfully market and
sell our products in foreign markets depends in large part on our ability to comply with such foreign regulatory requirements. Our products have
been Conformitee Europeene ( CE ) marked, indicating conformance with applicable sections of the Medical Device Directive 93/42/EEC, which
allows the products to be marketed in the member countries of the European Communities.

We are also subject to periodic inspections by the FDA and similar foreign regulatory agencies, whose primary purpose is to audit our
compliance with quality system regulations established by the FDA and other applicable government standards. Regulatory action may be
initiated in response to audit deficiencies or product performance problems. We believe that our manufacturing and quality control procedures
comply with all applicable requirements of the FDA and foreign regulatory agencies in countries in which we sell our products. We have
received and maintain ISO 13485: 2007 Certification.

Medicare and Medicaid laws and regulations may impact the financial arrangements through which we market, sell and distribute our products
and services to patients who are Medicare or Medicaid beneficiaries. Violations of these laws and regulations may result in civil and criminal
penalties, including substantial fines and imprisonment. In a number of states, the scope of these laws and regulations has been extended to
include the provision of services or products to all patients, regardless of the source of payment, although there is variation from state to state as
to the exact provisions of such laws or regulations. In other states, and on a national level, several health care reform initiatives have been
proposed which would have a similar impact. We believe that our operations and our marketing, sales and distribution practices currently
comply with all current applicable fraud and abuse and physician anti-referral laws and regulations.

Third-Party Reimbursement and Cost Containment
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Our products are purchased primarily by hospitals, clinics, imaging centers and other users that bill various third-party payers for the services
provided to the patients. These payers, which include Medicare, Medicaid, private insurance companies and managed care organizations,
reimburse part or all of the costs and fees associated with the diagnostic procedures utilizing our products. The medical imaging services
performed using our software, except for disease screening procedures, are covered by current CPT codes (Current Procedural Terminology, as
defined by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services). As such, hospitals providing services using our advanced visualization solutions can
seek reimbursement for such services by using existing approved CPT codes. Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement for hospitals is based on a
fixed amount for treating a patient with a specific diagnosis. Because of this fixed reimbursement method, hospitals have incentives to use less
costly methods in treating Medicare and Medicaid patients, and they will frequently make capital expenditures to take advantage of less costly
treatment technologies. Often, reimbursement is reduced to reflect the availability of a new procedure or technique and, as a result, hospitals are
generally willing to implement new cost-saving technologies before these downward adjustments take effect. Likewise, because the rate of
reimbursement for certain physicians who perform certain procedures has been, and may in the future be, reduced in the event of changes in the
resource-based relative value scale method of payment calculation, physicians may seek greater cost efficiency in treatment to minimize any
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negative impact of reduced reimbursement. Any amendments to existing reimbursement rules and regulations that restrict or terminate the
reimbursement eligibility (or the extent or amount of coverage) of medical procedures using our products or the eligibility (or the extent or
amount of coverage) of our products could have a material adverse impact on our business.

In response to the focus of national attention on rising health care costs, a number of changes to reduce costs have been proposed or have begun
to emerge. There have been, and may continue to be, proposals by legislators and regulators and third-party payers to reduce these costs. There
has also been a significant increase in the number of Americans enrolling in some form of managed care plan and, in addition, many hospitals
participate in or have agreements with HMOs (health maintenance organizations). It has become a typical practice for hospitals to affiliate
themselves with as many managed care plans as possible. Higher managed care penetration typically drives down the prices of healthcare
procedures, which in turn places pressure on medical supply prices. This causes hospitals to implement tighter vendor selection and certification
processes by reducing the number of vendors used, purchasing more products from fewer vendors and trading discounts on price for guaranteed
higher volumes to vendors. Hospitals have also sought to control and reduce costs over the last decade by joining group purchasing
organizations or purchasing alliances. We cannot predict what continuing or future impact these practices, the existing or proposed legislation, or
such third-party payer measures may have on our future business.

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 ( HIPAA )

The HIPAA regulations require our customers to observe several requirements for the privacy and security of the protected health information
(PHI) of their patients. Although the products and services we provide may technically not be covered under the HIPAA regulations, we may
have access to PHI while working with our customers and they therefore routinely request that we sign business associate agreements with them.
A business associate is a person or entity that performs certain functions or activities that involve the use or disclosure of protected health
information on behalf of, or provides services to, a covered entity. By law, the HIPAA Privacy Rule applies only to covered entities health
plans, health care clearinghouses, and certain health care providers. However, most health care providers do not carry out all of their health care
activities and functions by themselves. Instead, they often use the services of a variety of other persons or businesses. The Privacy Rule allows
covered providers and health plans to disclose protected health information to these business associates if the providers or plans obtain
satisfactory assurances that the business associate will use the information only for the purposes for which it was engaged by the covered entity,
will safeguard the information from misuse, and will help the covered entity comply with some of the covered entity s duties under the Privacy
Rule. Covered entities may disclose protected health information to an entity in its role as a business associate only to help the covered entity

carry out its health care functions not for the business associate s independent use or purposes, except as needed for the proper management and
administration of the business associate.

Emplovees

As of December 31, 2008, we had 280 full-time employees, with 102 involved in research and development, 78 in sales and marketing, 53 in
technical support functions and 47 in administrative functions. We believe our relationship with our employees is good.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
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The discussion of our business and operations included in this annual report on Form 10-K should be read together with the risk factors set forth
below. They describe various risks and uncertainties to which we are or may become subject. These risks and uncertainties, together with other
factors described elsewhere in this report, have the potential to affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows,
strategies or prospects in a material and adverse manner. New risks may emerge at any time, and we cannot predict those risks or estimate the
extent to which they may affect financial performance. Each of the risks described below could adversely impact the value of our securities.
These statements, like all statements in this report, speak only as of the date of this report (unless another date is indicated), and we undertake no
obligation to update or revise the statements in light of future developments.

We offer only one line of products, which is advanced visualization software, related services and hardware, and if our products do not
continue to gain market acceptance, our financial results would be adversely affected.

Our success depends on our ability to successfully market advanced visualization software for clinical use, and on the ability and willingness of
physicians to use enterprise-wide advanced visualization medical imaging software in clinical analysis and therapy planning. Our
enterprise-wide advanced visualization software products are alternatives to the conventional methods traditionally used for viewing medical
images in the clinical setting. Often, a purchase
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by a customer of our products means that it has chosen not to utilize software that was provided in connection with the customer s purchase of a
scanner, which means that the customer may pay additional amounts to obtain our products. The acceptance of our products by physicians and
other clinicians will depend on our ability to educate those users as to the speed, ease-of-use and other benefits offered by our products and
systems, as well as our timely introduction of new features and functions. There can be no assurance that users will prefer advanced visualization
and analysis software solutions over less expensive 2D medical imaging software or that we will succeed in our efforts to further develop,
commercialize and achieve market acceptance for our products or for any other product in the clinical setting. Further, most of our business in
markets outside the United States is provided through third parties with whom we have marketing agreements. There can be no assurance that
these third parties will wish to continue our relationships on an indefinite basis or under the same terms as the business is currently conducted.
Further, although we have undertaken efforts to develop direct relationships with customers in markets outside the United States, we may not be
successful in doing so at a sufficient level. The loss of or adverse changes in our relationships with our third-party business partners, and our
failure to establish sufficient direct relationships with customers outside the United States, would have a material adverse impact on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

A substantial portion of our revenue is derived from sales of our software in connection with customer purchases of CT scanners, and any
decline in the purchase of CT scanners or any difficulty we have in growing sales separately from sales of CT scanners could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Our business historically was tied to sales of our Vitrea advanced visualization software and related software options (which includes software,
hardware and maintenance and services), which were typically purchased concurrently with a customer s purchase of CT imaging equipment.
Forecasts for 2009 suggest that the market for CT imaging equipment will be down significantly. In order to improve the marketability of our
products separately from sales of CT imaging equipment, during 2008, we evolved our business model into sales throughout a customer s
enterprise when we launched ViTAL Enterprise in May. ViTAL Enterprise includes Vitrea and ViTALConnect software, as well as all options
that we manufacture for such products. ViTAL Enterprise makes all of our clinical functionality available throughout a hospital enterprise to
better enable specialists to take advantage of our tools. We intend for ViTAL Enterprise to be sold both with purchases of CT equipment as well
as in the absence of such purchases. There can be no assurance that ViTAL Enterprise will meet with acceptance by a wide range of hospitals or
that specialists throughout hospitals will wish to use our tools. If ViTAL Enterprise does not meet with market acceptance, it would have a
material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We presently depend on Toshiba for a significant portion of our total revenues. A reduction in the business from Toshiba could adversely affect
our revenues and could seriously harm our business.

A limited number of large customers may continue to account for a significant portion of our revenue during any given period for the
foreseeable future. One of our principal distribution channels is to sell our medical imaging software in connection with medical imaging
equipment sold by Toshiba. Sales to Toshiba accounted for 52% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2008, 47% of our total
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2007 and 41% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006. Toshiba s accounts
receivable represented 42% of our accounts receivable at December 31, 2008 and 34% at December 31, 2007. Except for our agreement with
Toshiba, we have no significant purchase commitments from any of our customers or business partners, and we generally make sales pursuant to
individual transactions. Our joint distribution agreement with Toshiba commenced in 2001 and has been extended five times, most recently
through December 31, 2013. A reduction, delay, or cancellation of orders from Toshiba, or our inability to collect accounts receivable from
Toshiba, likely would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and operating results.

In February 2009, Toshiba announced that via its wholly-owned subsidiary, Toshiba Medical Visualization Systems Europe, Ltd., it had
completed its acquisition of the Advanced Visualization Imaging System Division (AVIS) of Barco nv, Edinburgh, Scotland. This acquisition
enables Toshiba to conduct in-house development of 3D volume rendering and advanced visualization capabilities for all Toshiba modalities.
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For the past 10 years, Toshiba has used Voxar 3D visualization core software, a product of AVIS, in its medical imaging products and PACS.
AVIS, as part of Barco, provided advanced visualization solutions for the medical imaging and PACS markets.

We believe that due to Toshiba s renewal in November 2008 of its agreement with us to resell our products and its execution in January 2009 of
an agreement to fund our development of advanced visualization software, the acquisition of AVIS by Toshiba will not have a material negative
impact on our sales to Toshiba. However, there can be no assurance that Toshiba will not use AVIS to develop technologies that are competitive
to our products, particularly to work with lower-end CT imaging equipment. If Toshiba does develop technologies that are
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competitive to our products, it could choose to sell its own products in place of ours, which likely would have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

We operate in a single industry and are therefore dependent upon growth in the advanced visualization market. If that market does not grow as
we expect, our business, results of operations and financial condition will be adversely affected.

The advanced visualization industry in which we market our products is currently faced with regulatory, technical and market challenges. State
and federal governmental agencies and private payors are putting pressure on reimbursement rates for advanced visualization examinations,
which can negatively affect demand for our products. Many of the major hospitals and medical research centers within the United States have
already purchased scanners, PACS and advanced visualization technologies, causing future sales to be upgrades or replacements instead of new
installations, potentially lengthening the sales cycles as customers feel less urgency to purchase and implement new systems. We believe that the
market for advanced visualization technologies is still developing, with growth opportunities outside the United States and among specialists
beyond radiology.

However, given the uncertainties associated with the developing stage of many of these markets, there can be no assurance that they will develop
in the manner we anticipate or that they will not require a level of investment greater than we expect. Additionally, some of our customers
finance their acquisitions through third-party lenders. With the recent tightening in the lending market, some customers who would otherwise
purchase our products may not be able to obtain sufficient financing and therefore will not complete their purchases. Accordingly, there can be
no assurance that the advanced visualization industry will provide growth opportunities for us and our software products or that our business
strategies will be successful as the industry continues to evolve. Ultimately, if the advanced visualization industry fails to develop as we expect,
our business, results of operations and financial condition will be materially and adversely affected.

We participate in a highly competitive industry. If we fail to compete effectively, our results of operations and financial condition would be
adversely affected.

We face intense competition in the advanced visualization industry. We expect technology to continue to develop rapidly, and our success will
depend to a large extent on our ability to maintain a competitive position with our products. Our competitors in the advanced visualization
industry include large, established manufacturers of CT and MR imaging equipment. Companies such as GE, Siemens and Philips typically offer
their own advanced visualization software and workstations as part of their integrated imaging and scanner systems. Our software works on the
products offered by each of these companies. To win business against equipment manufacturers, we must convince customers to buy our
software solutions separately from their purchase of imaging equipment instead of buying integrated systems from our competitors.

In addition to having a competitive advantage in marketing advanced visualization tools as an integrated part of their imaging products, our
competitors have significantly greater capital and staffing resources for research and development that are critical to success in the dynamic
advanced visualization industry, more recognizable brand names, and more well-established marketing and distribution networks. Although
price has been less significant than other factors, increasing competition may result in price reductions and reduced gross margins. Additionally,
we face competition from other entities, such as PACS vendors and developers of competitive or ancillary software packages. We may not be
able to compete effectively with such manufacturers or competing entities on each or any particular factor, including price, features and service.
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Our products may become obsolete or non-competitive, or we may develop non-competitive products, which would result in reduced revenue
and profit margins.

The advanced visualization market is characterized by rapid innovation and technological change. For example, as scanners become faster and
generate increasingly more slices, our software must maintain its capability to handle the increased data volumes generated by the more
powerful scanners. We may devote time and resources to develop products that do not obtain market acceptance or for which the market is much
smaller than we expected when we planned the products, and we may be otherwise unable to compete effectively in the marketplace. Products
developed by our competitors may render our products obsolete or non-competitive. Similarly, our competitors may succeed in developing or
marketing products that are viewed as providing superior clinical performance or are less expensive than our current or future products.
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As our products are accessed by additional medical professionals throughout an enterprise, the satisfaction of our customers may decrease.

Historically, our products were used by radiologists who received education on the use of imaging products in medical school and continuing
education programs and to whom we provided training in connection with their purchases. Further, use of medical imaging products is a
relatively routine activity for radiologists. As our products are used by additional medical professionals throughout an enterprise, however, they
will be used by persons with less training and familiarity with imaging technologies. Occasional and less-trained users of imaging technology
may find use of our products to be more difficult than do radiologists, which could increase our time and expenses supporting these users, thus
negatively affecting our gross margins for support services. Further, these users may realize less satisfaction than do our historical customers,
negatively affecting the adoption of our products elsewhere in the enterprise. Finally, occasional and less-trained users are more likely to use our
products incorrectly. Although our products are intended to be secondary analytical devices, their incorrect use could result in errors by medical
professionals in their treatment of patients, lowering their satisfaction with our products and potentially exposing us to legal and regulatory
liability, which could affect our results of operations and ability to market our products.

We may make future acquisitions, which may be difficult to integrate, divert management resources, result in unanticipated costs or dilute our
shareholders.

Part of our continuing business strategy is to make acquisitions of, or investments in, companies, products or technologies that complement our
current products, enhance our market coverage or technical capabilities, or offer growth opportunities. Future acquisitions could pose numerous
risks to our operations, including:

. we may have difficulty integrating the purchased operations, technologies or products;
. we may incur substantial unanticipated integration costs;
. assimilating the acquired businesses may divert significant management attention and financial resources

from our other operations and could disrupt our ongoing business;

. acquisitions could result in the loss of key employees, particularly those of the acquired operations;

. we may have difficulty retaining or developing the acquired businesses customers;

. acquisitions could adversely affect our existing business relationships with suppliers and customers;

. we may fail to realize the potential cost savings or other financial benefits and/or the strategic benefits of the

acquisitions; and

. we may incur liabilities from the acquired businesses for infringement of intellectual property rights or other
claims, and we may not be successful in seeking indemnification for such liabilities or claims.

27



Edgar Filing: VITAL IMAGES INC - Form 10-K

Further, we may not receive the returns from an acquisition that were expected at the time of acquisition. In connection with any acquisition or
investment, we could incur debt, be required to amortize expenses related to intangible assets, incur large and immediate write-offs, experience
volatility in future earnings resulting from contingent consideration, assume liabilities, or issue stock that would dilute our current shareholders
percentage of ownership. We may not be able to complete acquisitions or integrate the operations, products or personnel gained through any
such acquisition without a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We sell our products internationally and are subject to various risks relating to such international activities, which could harm our international
sales and profitability.

During the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, 29%, 19% and 15% of our total revenues, respectively, were attributable to
international sales. Toshiba has been the primary source of our international sales. We are also developing direct international sales and
marketing efforts. By doing business in international markets, we are exposed to risks separate and distinct from those we face in our domestic
operations. Our international business may be adversely affected by changing economic conditions in foreign countries. Because most of our
sales are currently denominated in U.S. dollars, if the value of the U.S. dollar increases relative to foreign currencies, our products could become
more costly to the international consumer and therefore less competitive in international markets, which could adversely affect our profitability.
Furthermore, the percentage of sales denominated in non-U.S. currencies may increase in the future, in which case fluctuations in exchange rates
could affect demand for our products. Engaging in international business inherently involves a number of other difficulties and risks, including:

. export restrictions and controls relating to technology;

13

28



Edgar Filing: VITAL IMAGES INC - Form 10-K

Table of Contents

. the availability and level of reimbursement within prevailing foreign healthcare payment systems;
. pricing pressure that we may experience internationally;

. required compliance with existing and new foreign regulatory requirements and laws;

. business customs in other countries that violate U.S. laws, such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;
. laws and business practices favoring local companies;

. longer payment cycles;

. difficulties in enforcing agreements and collecting receivables through foreign legal systems;

. political and economic instability;

. potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffs and other trade barriers;

. international terrorism and anti-American sentiment;

. difficulties and costs of staffing and managing foreign operations;

. changes in currency exchange rates; and

. difficulties in enforcing intellectual property rights.

Our exposure to each of these risks may increase our costs, lengthen our sales cycle and require significant management attention. We cannot
assure you that one or more of these factors will not harm our business.

If our internal control over financial reporting is found to be inadequate, our financial results may not be accurate, raising concerns for
investors and potentially adversely affecting our stock price.

Under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we are required to evaluate and determine the effectiveness of our internal controls over
financial reporting. We have dedicated a significant amount of time and resources to ensure compliance with this legislation for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 and will continue to do so for future periods. We may encounter problems or delays in completing the
review and evaluation, the implementation of improvements, and the receipt of a positive attestation, or any attestation at all, from our
independent registered public accounting firm. In addition, our assessment of our internal controls may identify deficiencies that need to be
addressed in our internal controls over financial reporting or other matters that may raise concerns for investors and therefore adversely affect
our stock price.

We may experience fluctuations in operating results, which may result in volatility in the price of our common stock.
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We have in the past experienced, and may in the future experience, significant fluctuations in annual and quarterly operating results. If these
fluctuations occur, they may result in volatility in the price of our common stock. Quarterly revenue and operating results may fluctuate as a
result of a variety of factors that are outside of our control including, but not limited to, the timing of significant orders, the timing of product
enhancements and new product introductions by us or our competitors, the pricing of our products, changes in customers budgets and
competitive conditions. Our quarterly license and services revenue may fluctuate and may be difficult to forecast for a variety of reasons,
including the following:

. a significant number of our existing and prospective clients decisions regarding whether to enter into license
agreements with us are made within the last few weeks or days of each quarter;

. the size and number of license transactions can vary significantly;
. our dependence on Toshiba or any other major customer for a significant portion of our revenues;
. a decrease in license fee revenue which may likely result in a decrease in services revenue in the same or

subsequent quarters;

. clients unexpectedly postponing or cancelling projects due to changes in their strategic priorities, project
objectives, budget or personnel;

. the uncertainty caused by potential business combinations in the software industry, causing clients and
prospective clients to cancel, postpone or reduce capital spending projects on software;

. client evaluations and purchasing processes that vary significantly from company to company, and a client s
internal approval and expenditure authorization process that is difficult and time consuming to complete, even after

selection of a vendor;

. the number, timing and significance of software product enhancements and new software product
announcements by us or our competitors;

. existing clients declining to renew support for our products, and market pressures that limit our ability to
increase support fees or require clients to upgrade from older versions of our products; or

. prospective clients declining or deferring the purchase of new products or releases if we do not have
sufficient client references for those products.
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If we do not achieve a substantial improvement in pretax results in 2009 over 2008, we may need to establish a valuation allowance for some or
all of our deferred tax assets, which could materially impact our income tax provision, results of operations and financial condition.

As of December 31, 2008, we had $14.6 million of deferred tax assets. Considerations for determining the realizability of our deferred tax assets
primarily involve cumulative pre-tax income for financial reporting purposes, cumulative taxable income for the past three years, estimated
future pre-tax income for financial reporting purposes and estimated future taxable income from our core business. We also consider the
expiration dates and amounts of net operating loss carryforwards and other tax credits, and estimate the impact of future tax deductions from the
exercise of stock options. If we do not achieve a substantial improvement in pretax results in 2009 over 2008, it is reasonably possible that we
may need to establish additional valuation allowances for some or all of our deferred tax assets, which could materially impact our income tax
provision, financial position and results of operations.

We are subject to government regulation, which can result in additional costs or restrict our ability to market our products.

Our products are subject to regulation by the FDA and by comparable agencies in foreign countries. In the United States, the FDA regulates the
development, introduction, manufacturing, labeling and record keeping procedures for medical devices, including 3D medical imaging software
and systems. Our medical devices require clearance or approval by the FDA before they can be commercially distributed in the United States.
Modifications and enhancements to a medical device also require a new FDA clearance or approval if they could significantly affect its safety or
effectiveness or would constitute a major change in its intended use, design or manufacture. The FDA requires every manufacturer to make this
determination in the first instance, but the FDA may review any manufacturer s decision and may require a new clearance or approval for the
modification if it disagrees with the manufacturer s decision. If the FDA requires us to seek clearance or approval for the modification of a
previously cleared product for which we have concluded that new clearances or approvals are unnecessary, we may be required to cease
marketing or to recall the modified product until we obtain clearance or approval, and we may be subject to significant regulatory fines or
penalties, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results and competitive position. The process of obtaining marketing
clearance from the FDA for new products and new applications for existing products can be time-consuming and expensive. All of our current
products are marketed pursuant to 510(k) pre-market clearance from the FDA. Our products have been cleared to be marketed for use with CT,
MR and PET scanners. The FDA may not grant clearance with respect to our future products or enhancements, or future FDA review may
involve delays that could adversely affect our ability to market such future products or enhancements. In addition, our future products or
enhancements may be subject to a more lengthy and expensive pre-market approval process with the FDA.

Even if we obtain regulatory clearances and approvals to market a product from the FDA, these approvals may entail limitations on the indicated
uses of the product. Product clearances and approvals by the FDA can also be withdrawn due to failure to comply with regulatory standards or
the occurrence of unforeseen problems following initial approval. The FDA could also limit or prevent the distribution of our products and has
the power to require the recall of such products. FDA regulations depend heavily on administrative interpretation, and future interpretations
made by the FDA or other regulatory bodies may adversely affect us. The FDA may inspect our facilities and operations to determine whether
we are in compliance with various regulations relating to specification, development, documentation, validation, testing, quality control and
product labeling. If the FDA determines that we are in violation of such regulations, it could impose civil penalties, including fines, recall or
seize products and, in extreme cases, impose criminal sanctions.

We market our products both domestically and internationally. International regulatory bodies have established varying regulations governing
product standards, packaging requirements, labeling requirements, import restrictions, tariff regulations, duties and tax requirements. Our
inability or failure to comply with the varying regulations, or the imposition of new regulations, could restrict our ability to sell our products
internationally and could adversely affect our business.
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The imposition of requirements under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, could adversely affect our
business.

The HIPAA regulations require our customers to observe several requirements for the privacy and security of the protected health information
(PHI) of their patients. Although the products and services we provide may technically not be covered under the HIPAA regulations, we may

have access to PHI while working with our customers and they therefore routinely request that we sign business associate agreements with them.
A business associate is a person or entity that performs certain functions or activities that involve the use or disclosure of protected health
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information on behalf of, or that provides services to, a covered entity. By law, the HIPAA Privacy Rule applies only to covered entities health
plans, healthcare clearinghouses, and certain healthcare providers. However, most healthcare providers do not carry out all of their healthcare
activities and functions by themselves. Instead, they often use the services of a variety of other persons or businesses. The Privacy Rule allows
covered providers and health plans to disclose protected health information to these business associates if the providers or plans obtain
satisfactory assurances that the business associate will use the information only for the purposes for which it was engaged by the covered entity,
will safeguard the information from misuse, and will help the covered entity comply with some of the covered entity s duties under the Privacy
Rule. Covered entities may disclose protected health information to an entity in its role as a business associate only to help the covered entity
carry out its healthcare functions not for the business associate s independent use or purposes, except as needed for the proper management and
administration of the business associate. These agreements are necessary for us in the normal course of servicing and supporting our products
and may require us to incur liabilities if we disclose protected health information in a manner not allowed under any respective agreement. Our
potential liabilities may include indemnifying our customer against any damages resulting from the disclosure. If we are not willing to or are
unable to enter into a business associate agreement with current and potential customers, such customers may not purchase our products or
services, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

We are subject to various federal and state fraud and abuse laws, and if we are unable to fully comply with such laws, we could face
substantial penalties, which may adversely affect our business.

We are subject to various federal and state laws pertaining to health care fraud and abuse, including the following:

. the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering,
receiving or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce either the referral of an
individual, or furnishing or arranging for a good or service, for which payment may be made under federal health care
programs (such as Medicare and Medicaid);

. the federal False Claims Act, which prohibits anyone from knowingly presenting or causing to be presented a
false or fraudulent claim for payment to the federal government;

. HIPAA, which prohibits executing a scheme to defraud any health care benefit program;

. the federal False Statements Statute, which prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or
covering up a material fact or making any materially false statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for
health care benefits, items or services; and

. state law equivalents to these federal laws, which may not be limited to government reimbursed items, and
may not contain identical exceptions.

If our past or present operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or the other similar governmental regulations to
which we are subject, we may be subject to the applicable penalty associated with the violation, including civil and criminal penalties, damages,
fines, exclusion from federal health care programs and/or the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Similarly, if the physicians or other
providers or entities with which we do business are found to be non-compliant with applicable laws, they may be subject to sanctions, which
could also have a negative impact on us. Any penalties, damages, fines, curtailment or restructuring of our operations could adversely affect our
ability to operate our business and our financial results. The risk of our being found in violation of these laws is increased by the fact that their
provisions are open to a variety of interpretations and are subject to further legal or regulatory change. Any action against us for violation of
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these laws, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses, fines and other penalties, divert our
management $ attention from the operation of our business and damage our reputation.

The protection of our intellectual property may be uncertain, and we may face possible claims of others.

Although we have received patents and have filed patent applications with respect to certain aspects of our technology, we generally do not rely
principally on patent protection with respect to our products and technologies. Instead, we rely primarily on a combination of trade secret and
copyright law, employee and third-party nondisclosure agreements and other protective measures to protect intellectual property rights
pertaining to our products and technologies. Such measures may not provide meaningful protection of our trade secrets, know-how or other
intellectual property in the event of any unauthorized use, misappropriation or disclosure. Others may independently develop similar
technologies or duplicate our technologies. In addition, to the extent that we apply for any patents, such applications may not result in issued
patents or, if issued, such patents may not be valid or of value. Third parties could, in the future, assert infringement or misappropriation claims
against us with respect to our current or future products and technologies, or we may need to assert claims of infringement against third
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parties. Any infringement or misappropriation claim by us or against us could place significant strain on our financial resources, divert
management s attention from our business and harm our reputation. The costs of prosecuting or defending an intellectual property claim could be
substantial and could adversely affect our business, even if we are ultimately successful in prosecuting or defending any such claims. If our
products or technologies are found to infringe the rights of a third party, we could be required to pay significant damages or license fees or cease
production, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We face the risk of product liability claims, and our product liability and errors and omissions insurance coverage may not be adequate to pay
products liability claims, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.

Our business exposes us to the risk of product liability claims that is inherent in the manufacturing and marketing of medical devices, including
those which may arise from the misuse or malfunction of, or design flaws in, our products. We may be subject to product liability claims if our
products cause, or merely appear to have caused, an injury. Claims may be made by patients, healthcare providers or others selling our products.
Although we have product liability and errors and omissions insurance that we believe is appropriate, this insurance is subject to deductibles and
coverage limitations. Our current product liability insurance may not continue to be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all, and, if
available, the coverages may not be adequate to protect us against any future product liability claims. Further, if additional products are
approved for marketing, we may seek additional insurance coverage. If we are unable to obtain insurance at an acceptable cost or on acceptable
terms with adequate coverage or otherwise protect against potential product liability claims, we will be exposed to significant liabilities, which
may harm our business. A product liability claim, recall or other claim with respect to uninsured liabilities or for amounts in excess of insured
liabilities could result in significant costs and significant harm to our business.

If we fail to attract and retain qualified personnel, our business would be harmed.

Recruiting and retaining talented personnel in the future will be critical to our success. There is intense competition from other companies,
research and academic institutions, government entities and other organizations for qualified personnel in the areas of our activities. If we fail to
identify, attract, retain and motivate these highly skilled personnel, we may be unable to continue our marketing and development activities.

If we do not effectively manage changes in our business, these changes could place a significant strain on our management and operations and,
as a result, our business might not succeed.

Our ability to grow successfully requires an effective planning and management process. The expansion and growth of our business could place
a significant strain on our management systems, infrastructure and other resources. To manage our growth successfully, we must continue to
improve and expand our systems and infrastructure in a timely and efficient manner. Our controls, systems, procedures and resources may not be
adequate to support a changing and growing company. If our management fails to respond effectively to changes and growth in our business,
including acquisitions, such failure could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We depend on third-party reimbursement. A reduction or other change in reimbursement from third parties could negatively affect our business.
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Our products are purchased by hospitals, clinics, imaging centers and other users, which bill various third-party payers, such as government
health programs, private health insurance plans, managed care organizations and other similar programs, for the healthcare goods and services
provided to their patients. There are currently Current Procedural Terminology, or CPT, reimbursement codes that describe most of the
diagnostic procedures that use our products. However, the amount of reimbursement from third-party payers varies by site of service and
geographic location and is subject to change. Payers may deny reimbursement if they determine that a product used in a procedure was not used
in accordance with established payer protocol regarding cost-effective treatment methods or was used for an unapproved indication. Third-party
payers are increasingly challenging the prices charged for medical services and, in some instances, have put pressure on service providers to
lower their prices or reduce their services. We are unable to predict what changes will be made in the reimbursement methods used by
third-party healthcare payers. Third-party payers may not consider as cost effective the procedures in which our products are used.
Reimbursement for such procedures may not be available or, if available, payers low reimbursement levels may adversely affect our ability to
sell our products on a profitable basis. In addition, there have been and may continue to be changes and proposals by legislators, regulators and
third-party payers to curb further these costs in the future. For example, the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005, or the DRA, which was signed into
law on February 8, 2006, imposes caps on Medicare payment rates for certain imaging services, including MR and PET, furnished in
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physicians offices and other non-hospital based settings. Under the caps, payments for specified imaging services cannot exceed the hospital
outpatient payment rates for these services. This change applies to services furnished on or after January 1, 2007. The DRA also codifies a
reduction in Medicare payments for certain multiple images performed on contiguous body parts, which was previously established in the 2006
Physician Fee Schedule final rule. A failure by hospitals and other users of our products to obtain reimbursement from third-party payers,
changes in third-party payers policies toward reimbursement for procedures using our products, or legislative action could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Healthcare reform may negatively impact our business.

The levels of revenue and profitability of medical technology companies may be affected by the efforts of government and third-party payers to
contain or reduce the costs of healthcare through various means. In the United States, there has been, and we expect that there will continue to

be, a number of federal, state and private proposals to control healthcare costs. These proposals include legislative, regulatory and other
initiatives and may contain measures intended to control public and private spending on healthcare as well as to provide universal public access

to the healthcare system. If enacted, these proposals may result in a substantial restructuring of the healthcare delivery system. For example, the
Congressional Budget Office has issued a report suggesting that radiology benefit managers could require pre-authorization, which could
decrease the demand for imaging services. Significant changes in the nation s healthcare system could have a substantial impact on the manner in
which we conduct business and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Consolidation in the healthcare industry could lead to demands for price concessions or limit or eliminate our ability to sell to certain of our
significant market segments.

The cost of healthcare has risen significantly over the past decade, and numerous initiatives and reforms initiated by legislators, regulators and
third-party payors to curb these costs have resulted in a consolidation trend in the medical device industry as well as among our customers,
including healthcare providers. This in turn has resulted in greater pricing pressures and limitations on our ability to sell to important market
segments, as group purchasing organizations, independent delivery networks and large single accounts, such as the Veterans Administration in
the United States, continue to consolidate purchasing decisions for some of our healthcare provider customers. We expect that market demand,
government regulation, third-party reimbursement policies and societal pressures will continue to change the worldwide healthcare industry,
resulting in further business consolidations and alliances which may exert further downward pressure on the prices of our products and adversely
impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may incur goodwill impairment charges that adversely affect our operating results.

We review goodwill for impairment annually and more frequently if events and circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired and that
the carrying value may not be recoverable. We operate as one reporting unit and therefore compare our book value to our market value
(consisting of market capitalization plus a control premium of 25%). If the market value exceeds the book value, goodwill is generally
considered not to be impaired. After December 31, 2008, declines in our stock price have resulted in our book value at times exceeding our
market value. If such a condition continues for a sustained period, our goodwill may be impaired. The balance of goodwill was $9.1 million as of
December 31, 2008, which if impaired would have an adverse affect on our financial position and operating results.
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If we do not reach certain milestones in the implementation of our enterprise resource planning ( ERP ) system, we may incur impairment
charges for all or a portion of the amounts we have capitalized, which could adversely affect our operating results.

In 2007, we began the implementation of an ERP system. The ERP system is intended to replace numerous disconnected business management
software applications and link the data contained within these disconnected systems to enable better management of our business and derive
more useful data for various business functions, such as sales, marketing, finance and customer support.

Phase 1 of the implementation, which related to the replacement of our general ledger, was completed in 2007. The related capitalized costs are
being depreciated over seven years and, as of December 31, 2008, the net book value of Phase 1 was $1.0 million. Phase 2 of the
implementation, which consists of replacing our various customer relationship management and order processing systems, has yet to be
completed or placed in service. As of December 31, 2008, Phase 2 capitalized costs were $2.9 million. We will continue implementation of the
ERP during 2009, and upon
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completion of the implementation, the cost will be depreciated over seven years. If we do not reach certain milestones in the implementation
schedule, we may be required to write-off all or a portion of the amounts capitalized, which could negatively affect our operating results.

The disruption in the global financial markets and the economic downturn may adversely impact customer purchasing and payment patterns.

During 2008, we were affected by the general decline in the U.S. economy, which resulted in contracted capital spending by U.S. hospitals and
lower interest rates on our cash and investments. Disruptions in the financial markets and the related economic downturn could also negatively

impact customer purchasing and payment patterns and have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. There
can be no assurances as to the length or severity of this period of disruption and the related economic downturn.

We may issue shares of preferred stock without the consent of our holders of common stock, which could adversely affect the rights of the
holders of our common stock.

Our Articles of Incorporation authorize our Board of Directors, without any action by the holders of our common stock, to establish the rights
and preferences of up to 5,000,000 shares of currently undesignated preferred stock. These shares of preferred stock could possess voting and
conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting power of the holders of the common stock or dilute their ownership rights, and it

may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of Vital Images. No shares of preferred stock or other senior equity
securities are currently designated, and currently we have no plan to designate or issue any such securities.

We are subject to certain laws and plans which may discourage takeover attempts that could be beneficial for shareholders.

We are subject to anti-takeover provisions of the Minnesota Business Corporation Act. These provisions may deter or discourage takeover
attempts and other changes in control that are not approved by our Board of Directors, and they may have a depressive effect on any market for
our stock. As a result, our shareholders may lose opportunities to dispose of their shares at the higher prices typically available in takeover
attempts or that may be available under a merger proposal. In addition, these provisions may have the effect of permitting our current directors
to retain their positions and place them in a better position to resist changes that our shareholders may wish to make if they are dissatisfied with
the conduct of our business.

We have never paid any cash dividends and, therefore, our shareholders only opportunity to achieve a return on their investment in our
common stock is if the price of our common stock appreciates.

We have not paid cash dividends on our common stock in the past, and we do not intend to do so in the foreseeable future. Consequently, our
shareholders only opportunity to achieve a return on their investment in our common stock will be if the market price of our common stock
appreciates and they sell their shares at a profit.

39



Edgar Filing: VITAL IMAGES INC - Form 10-K

Our directors may not be held personally liable for certain actions, which could discourage shareholder suits against them.

As permitted by Minnesota law, our Articles of Incorporation provide that members of our Board of Directors shall not be personally liable to
our company or our shareholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, with certain exceptions. These provisions may
discourage shareholders from bringing suit against a director for breach of fiduciary duty and may reduce the likelihood of derivative litigation
brought by shareholders on behalf of our company against a director. In addition, our Bylaws provide for mandatory indemnification of directors
and officers to the fullest extent permitted by Minnesota law.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal office is located in an office building in Minnetonka, Minnesota, where we currently occupy approximately 72,000 square feet
under a lease that expires January 31, 2012. We also lease small offices in Den Haag, the Netherlands, and Beijing, China, for our operations in
those countries. We consider our current facilities adequate for our current needs.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various claims and legal actions in the normal course of business. We are of the opinion that the outcome of such legal
actions will not have a significant adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Notwithstanding our belief, an
unfavorable resolution of some or all of these matters could materially affect our future results of operations or cash flows.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

There was no matter submitted to the vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.
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Part I1

Item 5. Market for Registrant s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities

Vital Images, Inc. s common stock is quoted on The NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol VTAL. The table below reflects the high
and low per share closing sale prices of our common stock as reported by The NASDAQ Global Select Market for each of the periods indicated.
Such prices reflect inter-dealer prices, do not include adjustments for retail mark-ups, markdowns or commissions, and may not necessarily
represent actual transactions.

High Low

2008

Fourth Quarter $ 1502 $ 10.60
Third Quarter $ 1633 $ 12.19
Second Quarter $ 1636 $ 12.44
First Quarter $ 18.00 $ 14.46
2007

Fourth Quarter $ 23.05 $ 16.18
Third Quarter $ 2774 $ 17.30
Second Quarter $ 3351 $ 25.44
First Quarter $ 36.48 $ 30.16

We have never paid or declared any cash dividends on our common stock and do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. We expect to retain our future anticipated earnings to finance development and expansion of our business. As of March 9,
2009, there were approximately 6,400 beneficial owners and approximately 600 registered holders of record of our common stock.

On May 8, 2008, we announced a share repurchase program of up to $25.0 million of our common stock. On August 7, 2008, we announced
additional repurchases of up to $15.0 million of our common stock, allowing for total repurchases of up to $40.0 million of our common stock
under the share repurchase program. We completed this share repurchase program on February 6, 2009 through only open market transactions.
Between the inception of this share repurchase program and December 31, 2008, we repurchased 2.8 million shares of our common stock for
$38.2 million. On March 4, 2009, we announced a new share repurchase program, under which we will repurchase up to 1.0 million shares of
our common stock. The new share repurchase program expires on February 28, 2010.

The following table presents information with respect to purchases of our common stock made during the quarter ended December 31, 2008 by
us or our affiliated purchaser, as defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Period Total Number Average Total Number of Approximate Dollar
of Shares Price Paid Shares Purchased as Value of Shares that
Purchased per Share Part of Publicly May Yet Be Purchased
Announced Plans or Under the Plans or
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October 1-31, 2008 353,549
November 1-30, 2008 363,425
December 1-31, 2008 295,712

1,012,686

Performance Graph

@ PHPH L

13.02
12.75
12.06
12.64

Programs
4,601,722
4,632,602
3,566,782

12,801,106

hHPH PP

Programs (in millions)

10.0
5.4
1.8
1.8

Since April 24, 2007, our common stock has been quoted on The NASDAQ Global Select Market. From June 9, 2003 through April 23, 2007,
our stock was quoted on The NASDAQ Global Market. From September 29, 2000 through June 6, 2003, our common stock was quoted on The

NASDAQ SmallCap Market (now known as The NASDAQ Capital Market). The following graph shows changes during the period from

December 31, 2003 to
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December 31, 2008 in the value of $100 invested in: (1) Vital Images, Inc. s common stock; (2) the CRSP Total Return Index for The NASDAQ
Composite; and (3) NASDAQ Non-Financial Stocks. The values of each investment as of the dates indicated are based on share prices plus any
dividends paid in cash, with the dividends reinvested on the date they were paid. The calculations exclude trading commissions and taxes.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in any of our previous or future filings under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 that might incorporate future filings by reference, including this Annual Report on Form 10-K, in whole or in part, the
following performance graph shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any such filings and shall not otherwise be deemed filed
under such acts.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN#*
Among Vital Images, Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index

And The NASDAQ Non-Financial Index

*$100 invested on 12/31/03 in stock & index-including investment of dividends. Fiscal year ending December 31.

12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07 12/31/08
Vital Images, Inc. $ 100.00 $ 93.78 $ 146.42 $ 194.85 $ 101.18 $ 77.88
NASDAQ Composite $ 100.00 $ 110.08 $ 112.88 § 12651 § 138.13 § 80.47
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data (in thousands, except per share data)

Years ended December 31: 2008(1) 2007(1) 2006(1) 2005(1) 2004(1)
Revenue $ 68,141 $ 70,176  $ 70,512 $ 51,717  $ 36,122
Gross profit 52,268 54,587 56,302 40,157 25,675
Operating expenses 62,093(2) 61,755(3) 49,371 32,592(4) 25,161(5)
Operating (loss) income (9,825) (7,168) 6,931 7,565 514
Net (loss) income $ (2,800) $ 1,367 $ 6,583 $ 5,801 $ 296
Net (loss) income per share-basic $ 0.17) $ 0.08 $ 049 $ 047 $ 0.03
Weighted average common shares 16,155 16,972 13,463 12,379 11,632
Net income per share-diluted $ 0.17) $ 0.08 $ 0.46 $ 044 $ 0.02
Weighted average common shares 16,155 17,457 14,259 13,283 12,536
At December 31:

Working capital $ 135417 $ 173905 $ 162,202 $ 45,604 $ 30,996
Total assets $ 198,193 §$ 230,996 $ 219,730 $ 91,151 $ 69,284
Long-term debt $ $ $ $ $

Total stockholders equity $ 168,691 $ 202,216  $ 190,902 $ 68,789 $ 54,554

(1) Includes equity-based compensation of $5,007, $5,987, $5,063, $335 and $12 for the fiscal years 2008, 2007, 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively.

(2)  Includes a $660 restructuring charge related to a reduction in workforce of approximately 11% in November 2008.

(3)  Includes an $885 charge related to the separation of Jay D. Miller, our former Chief Executive Officer, in the fourth quarter of
2007.

(4)  Includes a loss on operating lease of $493 related to the relocation of our corporate headquarters in the first quarter of 2005.

(5)  Includes $1,000 of acquired in-process research and development charge relating to the acquisition of HInnovation, Inc. in
February 2004.
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Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Executive summary

Since the second quarter of 2007, financial results for Vital Images, Inc. (also referred toas we , us and our ) have been significantly affected by
weakness in the computed tomography, or CT, and picture archiving and communication systems, or PACS, markets and by the broad impact of
the Deficit Reduction Act.

Vital Images, Inc. summary 2008 results were as follows:

. Total revenue of $68.1 million, compared to $70.2 million for 2007.

. Gross margin of 77%, compared to 78% for 2007.

. Operating expenses of $62.1 million, compared to $61.8 million for 2007.

. Net loss of $(2.8) million, or $(0.17) loss per diluted share, compared to 2007 net income of $1.4 million, or
$0.08 per diluted share.

Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities were $147.0 million as of December 31, 2008, compared to $178.4 million as of
December 31, 2007. Working capital (defined as current assets less current liabilities) was $135.4 million as of December 31, 2008, compared to

$173.9 million as of December 31, 2007. The decrease in cash and working capital during 2008 was primarily the result of
repurchases of our common stock totaling $38.2 million under a share repurchase program authorized by our Board of
Directors in 2008.

During 2008, we continued to experience the effects of the industry-wide slowdown in the high-end CT market and the Deficit Reduction Act
that significantly impacted our 2007 results. Additionally, in 2008 we were impacted by the general decline in the U.S. economy, which resulted
in contracted capital spending by U.S. hospitals and lower interest rates on our cash and investments. We generated $4.6 million of interest
income in 2008, compared to $8.9 million in 2007. A decline in interest rates resulted in a 2.9% return on investments in 2008 compared to a
5.1% return on investments in 2007.

We partially mitigated these negative factors by making progress on our transition to an enterprise company, as demonstrated by our
introduction of ViTAL Enterprise in the 2008 second quarter, and by implementing significant cost-control measures, including an 11%
workforce reduction in the 2008 fourth quarter. We also responded by implementing a $40.0 million share repurchase program, resulting in the
repurchase of 2.8 million shares of our common stock for $38.2 million during 2008.
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We further strengthened our strategic relationship with Toshiba in 2008, renewing our global distribution agreement through December 31, 2013
and, in January 2009, entering into an agreement under which we will jointly develop applications. Our revenue from international sales grew
45% in 2008, and Toshiba has been the primary source of our international growth.

Although we expect the negative market factors that affected our 2007 and 2008 results to continue into 2009 and beyond, we remain committed
to developing the best software solutions for the enterprise and taking exceptional care of our customers.

Overview

We are a leading provider of advanced visualization and analysis solutions for use by medical professionals in clinical analysis and therapy
planning. We provide software, customer education, software maintenance and support, professional services and, on occasion, third-party
hardware to our customers. Our technology rapidly transforms complex data generated by diagnostic imaging equipment into functional digital
images that can be manipulated and analyzed using our specialized applications to better understand internal anatomy and pathology. Our
solutions are designed to improve physician workflow and productivity, enhance the ability to make clinical decisions, facilitate less invasive
patient care, and complement often significant capital investments in diagnostic imaging equipment made by our customers. Our software is
compatible with equipment from all major manufacturers of diagnostic imaging equipment, such as CT scanners, and can be integrated into
PACS. Many hospitals use PACS to acquire, distribute and archive medical images and diagnostic reports, reducing the need for film and
increasing reliance on advanced visualization solutions such as ours. We also offer a Web-based solution that provides physicians with
anywhere, anytime access to medical images and visualization tools through any Internet-enabled computer.
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We operate and manage our business as a single business segment the development and marketing of software and related services for advanced
visualization and analysis solutions for use by medical professionals in clinical analysis and therapy planning. We market our products and
services through a direct sales force, resellers and independent distributors in the United States and in international markets. Our common stock

is currently traded on The NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol VTAL.

Critical accounting policies and estimates

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our Consolidated Financial Statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements contained in this Annual Report describe our significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the Consolidated
Financial Statements. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates. We continually evaluate our critical
accounting policies and estimates.

We believe the critical accounting policies listed below reflect significant judgments, estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

‘We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts in an amount estimated to be sufficient to provide adequate protection against losses resulting
from extending credit to our customers. In judging the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts, we consider multiple factors, including
historical bad debt experience, the general economic environment, the need for specific client reserves and the aging of our outstanding
receivables. A portion of this provision is included in operating expenses as a general and administrative expense and a portion of this provision
is included as a reduction of license revenue. A considerable amount of judgment is required in assessing these factors. If the factors utilized in
determining the allowance do not reflect future performance, then a change in the allowance for doubtful accounts would be necessary in the
period such determination has been made, which would impact future results of operations. As of December 31, 2008, the allowance for
doubtful accounts was $638,000 for gross accounts receivable of $13.7 million.

Deferred taxes

Significant judgment is required in determining the realizability of our deferred tax assets. We must assess the likelihood that our net deferred
tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income, and to the extent we believe that recovery is not likely, we must establish a valuation
allowance. To the extent that we establish a valuation allowance, we must include an expense within the tax provision in the statement of
operations. As of December 31, 2008, the consolidated balance sheet included net deferred tax assets of $14.6 million.
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Considerations for determining the realizability of our deferred tax assets primarily involve cumulative pre-tax income for financial reporting
purposes, cumulative taxable income for the past three years, estimated future pre-tax income for financial reporting purposes and estimated
future taxable income from our core business. We also consider the expiration dates and amounts of net operating loss carryforwards and other
tax credits, and estimate the impact of future tax deductions from the exercise of stock options. These estimates are projected through the life of
the related deferred tax assets based on assumptions which we believe to be reasonable and consistent with current operating results.

As of December 31, 2008, the significant components of our deferred tax assets were as follows:

. Deferred tax assets for net operating loss carryforwards and other tax credits of $8.7 million, which is net of a
valuation allowance of $221,000 relating to tax credits and certain state net operating loss carryforwards that expire
prior to 2013. We will require approximately $18.0 million in cumulative future taxable income to be generated at
various times over the next 18 years to realize the related deferred tax assets prior to expiration.

. Deferred tax asset related to equity based compensation of $3.7 million. Many of the stock options related to
this deferred tax asset are currently significantly out-of-the money and may expire unutilized during the next six
years. Our projections of future taxable income have taken into consideration our expectations that a portion of these
out-of-the money options will not result in future tax deductions and will not reduce future taxable income.

After giving consideration to the above factors, we concluded that the net deferred tax assets of $14.6 million as of December 31, 2008 do not
require any additional valuation allowance. However, if we do not achieve a substantial improvement in pretax results in 2009 over 2008, it is
reasonably possible that we may need to establish additional valuation allowances for some or all of our deferred tax assets, which could
materially impact our income tax provision, financial position and results of operations.
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Long-lived assets

We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable,
in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard ( SFAS ) No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets. Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable include, but are not limited to, a significant
decrease in the market value of the business or asset acquired, a significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which the business or asset
acquired is used, or a significant adverse change in the business climate. If such events or changes in circumstances are present, the

undiscounted cash flows method is used to determine whether the asset is impaired. Cash flows would include the estimated terminal value of

the asset and exclude any interest charges. To the extent the carrying value of the asset exceeds the undiscounted cash flows over the estimated
remaining life of the asset or asset groups, the impairment is measured as the difference between the carrying value of the asset and its fair value,
determined using the discounted cash flows. The discount rate utilized would be based on our best estimate of the related risks and return at the
time the impairment assessment is made.

Our long-lived assets consist of property and equipment of $11.5 million and other intangible assets subject to amortization of $808,000 as of
December 31, 2008. A patent acquired in the HInnovation, Inc. acquisition having a $594,000 net book value as of December 31, 2008 is
currently under review by the United States Patent and Trademark Office ( USPTO ).

Goodwill

We account for goodwill in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Under SFAS No. 142,
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. The first step of the goodwill impairment test, used to identify potential impairment,
compares the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. We operate as one reporting unit and therefore compare
the book value to the market value (consisting of market capitalization plus a control premium of 25%). As of December 31, 2008, we had 14.7
million shares outstanding, a closing stock price of $13.91 per share, a market value of $255.1 million, and a book value of $168.7 million,
which would indicate that our goodwill was not impaired. Furthermore, based on December 31, 2008 data including 14.7 million shares
outstanding, our book value of $168.7 million, and a control premium of 25%, our stock price would need to trade below $9.20 per share for a
sustained period of time to indicate that our goodwill may be impaired. If the market value exceeds the book value, goodwill is considered not
impaired, and thus the second step of the impairment test is not necessary. If our book value exceeds the market value, the second step of the
goodwill impairment test is performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. The second step of the goodwill impairment test, used
to measure the amount of impairment loss, compares the implied fair value of the goodwill with the book value of the goodwill. If the carrying
value of the goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill, an impairment loss would be recognized in an amount equal to the excess.
We completed the annual goodwill impairment assessment as of December 31, 2008, in which no impairment was identified. Goodwill was $9.1
million as of December 31, 2008. If market conditions continue to fluctuate, we may incur goodwill impairment charges that adversely affect our
financial position and operating results.

Revenue Recognition

We follow specific and detailed guidelines in determining the proper amount of revenue to be recorded; however, certain judgments affect the
application of our revenue recognition policy.
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We recognize revenue in accordance with American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (  AICPA ) Statement of Position ( SOP ) 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognition, as amended by SOP 98-4 and SOP 98-9, as well as Technical Practice Aids issued from time to time by the
AICPA, and SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin ( SAB )
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No. 104. We recognize revenue when it is realized or realizable and earned. We consider revenue realized or realizable and earned when we
have persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the product has been shipped or the services have been provided to the customer, the sales price is
fixed or determinable, and collectability is probable.

Revenue results are difficult to predict, and any shortfall in revenue or delay in recognizing revenue could cause our operating results to vary
significantly from period to period. The significant judgments for revenue recognition typically involve whether collectability can be considered
probable and whether fees are fixed or determinable. Significant judgment is also required when evaluating and assessing revenue recognition
relating to our distribution agreements with original equipment manufacturers, value-added resellers and independent distributors (collectively,

Resellers ). In addition, our transactions often consist of multiple element arrangements, which must be analyzed to determine the fair value of
each element, the amount of revenue to be recognized upon shipment, if any, and the period and conditions under which deferred revenue should
be recognized. As a result, if facts and circumstances change that affect our current judgments, our revenue could be materially different in the
future.

Equity-based compensation

We recognize equity-based compensation expense under the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment. We
recognize equity-based compensation net of an estimated forfeiture rate and recognize compensation cost only for those shares expected to vest
over the requisite service period of the award.

The fair value of each option award is estimated as of the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. The Black-Scholes
option valuation model requires the development of assumptions that are input into the model. These assumptions are the expected stock
volatility, the risk-free interest rate, the option s expected life and the dividend yield on the underlying stock. Expected volatility is calculated
based on the historical volatility of our common stock over the expected option life and other appropriate factors. Risk-free interest rates are
calculated based on continuously compounded U.S. Treasury risk-free rates for the appropriate term. Prior to March 9, 2006, the expected life of
stock options was calculated by performing a detailed analysis of all historical stock option information available. On March 9, 2006, we began
to grant options with a five-year legal life instead of the eight-year legal life that had historically been used. As a result, we elected to use the

simplified method, as described in SAB No. 107, to estimate the expected life of options granted on and after March 9, 2006. We will utilize the
simplified method until sufficient historical information becomes available on the five-year legal life options. The dividend yield is assumed to
be zero, as we have never paid or declared any cash dividends on our common stock and do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock in
the foreseeable future. The expected forfeiture rate is estimated based on historical experience.

Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of equity-based payment awards require the input of the subjective
assumptions described above. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of equity-based payment awards represent management s best
estimates, which involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management judgment. As a result, if factors change and we use different
assumptions, our equity-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future. In addition, we are required to estimate the
expected forfeiture rate and recognize expense only for those shares expected to vest. If our actual forfeiture rate is materially different from our
estimate, the equity-based compensation expense could be significantly different from what we have recorded in the current period. See Note 2
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion of equity-based compensation.
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The following table sets forth information from our Statements of Operations, expressed as a percentage of total revenue.

Revenue:

License fees
Maintenance and services
Hardware

Total revenue

Cost of revenue:

License fees
Maintenance and services
Hardware

Impairment of patent
Total cost of revenue

Gross profit

Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Restructuring charge

Total operating expenses

Operating (loss) income

Interest income
(Loss) income before income taxes

(Benefit) provision for income taxes

Net (loss) income

Revenue (dollars in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2008
Revenues:
License fees $ 34,290
Maintenance and
services 32,436
Hardware 1,415
Total revenue $ 68,141

2007
$ 39,673
29,487
1,016
$ 70,176

2006
$ 46,332

22,615

1,565
$ 70512

For the Year Ended December 31,

2008

$

$

50.3%
47.6
2.1
100.0

7.2
14.8
1.3
23.3
76.7
44.4
25.1
20.6
1.0
91.1

(14.4)

6.8
(7.6)

(3.5)

4.1)%

2007

56.5%
42.0
1.5
100.0

6.7
142

1.0

0.3
222
77.8
45.6
21.7
20.7
88.0

(10.2)

12.6
24

0.5

1.9%

Increase (Decrease)

2007 to 2008

(5,383)

2,949
399
(2,035)

$

$

2006 to 2007

(6,659)

6,872
(549)
(336)

2006

65.7%
32.1
2.2
100.0

7.1
11.4

1.7
20.2
79.8
36.0
18.6
15.4
70.0

9.8

4.7
14.5

5.2

9.3%

Percent Increase (Decrease)

2007 to 2008
(14)%
10%

39%
3)%

2006 to 2007
(14)%
30%

(35)%
(0)%
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For 2009, we expect revenue of $61.0 million to $66.0 million, or a 3% to 10% decrease from 2008 revenue.
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License fee revenue (dollars in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease) Percent Increase (Decrease)

2008 2007 2006 2007 to 2008 2006 to 2007 2007 to 2008 2006 to 2007
License fee
revenue:
Vitrea licenses $ 9,242  $ 12853 $ 18,585 $ 3.611) $ (5,732) (28)% BH%
Vitrea options and
third party
software 20,559 24,967 26,486 (4,408) (1,519) (18)% (6)%
ViTAL Enterprise 3,303 3,303 100% %
Other 1,186 1,853 1,261 (667) 592 (36)% 47%
Total license fee
revenue $ 34290 $ 39673 $ 46332 $ 5,383) % (6,659) (14)% (14)%

ViTAL Enterprise, introduced in May 2008, enables unlimited enterprise access to the complete ViTAL solution offering,
including Vitrea, Vitrea Web, ViTALConnect and our specialized clinical features. We expect that revenue from Vitrea
licenses, Vitrea options and third party software will continue to decrease in significance as compared to overall
license fee revenue as sales of ViTAL Enterprise increase. The decrease in license fee revenue during 2008, as
compared to 2007, was driven primarily by a decrease in the number of Vitrea licenses sold by our direct sales force,
offset in part by new sales of ViTAL Enterprise, and by a greater percentage of license fee revenue from Toshiba,
which has lower revenue per license. Sales of ViTAL Enterprise also impact overall revenue mix, as a larger
percentage of each ViTAL Enterprise sale is allocated to maintenance and services revenue than has historically been
allocated for sales of Vitrea. The decrease in 2007 license fee revenue resulted from a 16% decrease in the number of
Vitrea licenses sold in 2007 compared to 2006.

The following table sets forth information on license fee revenue by source:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
License fee revenue:
Direct $ 9,750 $ 14,202 $ 20,273
Toshiba 23,276 22,141 20,414
McKesson 1,264 3,330 5,645
Total license fees $ 34,290 $ 39,673 $ 46,332
Percent of license fee revenue:
Direct 28% 36% 449%
Toshiba 68 56 44
McKesson 4 8 12
Total license fee revenue 100% 100% 100%

Maintenance and services revenue (dollars in thousands)
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Percent Increase

For the Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease) (Decrease)
2007 to 2006 to 2007 to 2006 to
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2008 2007

Maintenance and services

revenue:

Maintenance and support $ 26656 $ 22811 $ 16379 $ 3845 $ 6432 17% 39%
Customer education 4,478 5,590 5,178 (1,112) 412 (20)% 8%
Professional services 1,302 1,086 1,058 216 28 20% 3%
Total maintenance and services $ 32436 $ 29,487 $ 22615 $ 2949 $ 6,872 10% 30%

In 2008, maintenance and services revenue was positively impacted by sales of ViTAL Enterprise, as a larger percentage of each ViTAL
Enterprise sale is allocated to maintenance and services revenue than has historically been allocated for sales of Vitrea. As in 2008, we expect
that in future periods, although sales of ViTAL Enterprise will result in proportionately lower license revenue upon sale, we will benefit from a
recurring revenue stream from maintenance and services contracts.
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The increase in maintenance and support revenue in 2008 was primarily driven by an increase in the number of customers on maintenance
contracts, resulting from both new license sales and improvement in the percentage of our existing customers who went on maintenance

contracts. The increase in maintenance and support revenue in 2007 was primarily driven by an increase in the number
of customers on maintenance contracts, as well as by increased pricing on maintenance and support.

Decreased license sales in 2008, compared to 2007, and a general deferral of education sessions contributed to lower customer education
revenue in 2008. Professional services revenue, which includes installation and other implementation-related services, increased due to an
increase in services related to sales of ViTAL Enterprise. The increase in customer education revenue and professional services revenue in 2007
was due in part to customer education revenue recognized in 2007 related to strong Vitrea license sales near the end of 2006.

Hardware revenue

Hardware revenue increased 39% to $1.4 million, compared to $1.0 million in 2007, which was a 35% decrease from $1.6 million in 2006. We
sell hardware as a convenience to our customers, and fluctuations are driven by individual customer purchasing
preferences. Sales of hardware systems are not core to our strategy and will fluctuate from period to period depending
upon the needs of our customers.

Cost of revenue and gross profit

Gross profit decreased 4% to $52.3 million in 2008, compared to $54.6 million in 2007, which was a 3% decrease from $56.3 million in 2006.
Gross margin percentage decreased slightly to 77% in 2008 from 78% in 2007. Gross margin was 80% in 2006.

A comparison of gross profit and gross margin by revenue category is as follows (dollars in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Gross profit:
License fees $ 29,368 $ 34,948 $ 41,341
Maintenance and services 22,347 19,559 14,592
Hardware 553 322 369
Impairment of patent (242)
Total gross profit $ 52,268 $ 54,587 $ 56,302
Gross margin:
License fees 86% 88% 89%
Maintenance and services 69% 66% 65%
Hardware 39% 32% 24%
Total gross margin 77% 78% 80%
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Fluctuations in license fee gross margin are generally a result of average sales prices, changes in the product mix, and the mix between direct
sales and sales to distribution partners, which tend to carry lower margins.

Maintenance and services gross margin increased during 2008, compared to 2007, as a larger percentage of each ViTAL Enterprise
sale being allocated to maintenance and services revenue than has historically been allocated for sales of Vitrea,
without a corresponding increase in costs. In addition, in the fourth quarter of 2008, we recognized a $391,000 benefit
to maintenance and support revenue arising from Toshiba billing adjustments relating to historic periods. We will
continue to invest in our customer education, installation, professional services and customer support areas in the
future to adequately support our growing installed base of customers. Gross margin for 2007 was relatively consistent
with 2006.

Gross margin for hardware increased in 2008, compared to 2007 and increased in 2007, compared to 2006. Variances in gross margin for
hardware are expected, as hardware sales are not a substantial part of the sales strategy. Low volume can affect margins substantially.

During the third quarter 2007, we recognized a $242,000 patent impairment charge related to a patent application acquired in the
HInnovation, Inc. acquisition in February 2004. This patent application was rejected by the USPTO
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on August 23, 2007, and we decided not to pursue this application further. The impairment was recorded as a separate item in cost of revenue,
and it is included in the total gross margin percentage above.

For 2009, we expect total gross margin to be approximately 76% to 77%.

Operating expenses

The following is a comparison of operating expenses as a percent of revenue as well as the percent increase or decrease in the total expense:

Percent of Revenue for the

Year Ended December 31, Percent Increase (Decrease)
2008 2007 2006 2007 to 2008 2006 to 2007

Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 44.4% 45.6% 36.0% 5)% 26%
Research and development 25.1 21.7 18.6 13% 16%
General and administrative 20.6 20.7 15.4 @)% 34%
Restructuring charge 1.0 100% %
Total operating expenses 91.1% 88.0% 70.0% M% 25%

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expenses decreased $1.7 million, or 5%, to $30.3 million in 2008, compared to $32.0 million in 2007, which was a $6.6
million, or 26%, increase from $25.4 million in 2006. The change in sales and marketing expense is as follows (dollars in thousands):

For the Year Ended Percent Increase
December 31, Increase (Decrease) (Decrease)
2007 to 2006 to 2007 to 2006 to
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2008 2007
Salaries, benefits and bonus $ 12,173 $ 11,652 $ 8,588 $ 521 $ 3,064 4% 36%
Overhead and other expenses 4,532 4,634 3,349 (102) 1,285 2)% 38%
Commissions 3,592 4,634 5,266 (1,042) (632) 22)% (12)%
Travel, meals and entertainment 3,467 3,676 2,521 (209) 1,155 (6)% 46%
Trade shows and advertising 3,454 3,623 2,849 (169) 774 5)% 27%
Depreciation 1,668 1,380 806 288 574 21% 71%
Equity-based compensation 1,408 2,392 1,995 (984) 397 41)% 20%
Total $ 30294 $ 31,991 $ 25374 $ (1,697) $ 6,617 5)% 26%

The decrease in expenses in 2008 was due primarily to a decrease in commission expense related to the decrease in revenue and a decrease in
equity-based compensation resulting from issuing equity awards at a lower exercise price, as well as significant cancellations of equity awards
resulting from organizational changes. The increase in expenses during 2007 was due to an increase in compensation costs as a result of
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additional personnel, higher travel and entertainment costs, and higher costs for attending U.S. and European industry tradeshows. Commission
expense for both 2008 and 2007 decreased due to lower direct revenue compared to the respective prior year expense. We had 78, 103 and 75
sales and marketing personnel as of December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The decrease in headcount as of December 31, 2008 was
due primarily to the reduction in force described in Restructuring charge.

We expect sales and marketing expenses to be between 43% and 44% of total revenue for the year ending December 31, 2009.
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Research and development

Research and development expenses increased $1.9 million, or 13%, to $17.1 million in 2008, compared to $15.2 million in 2007, which was an
increase of $2.1 million, or 16%, from $13.1 million in 2006. The change in research and development expense is as follows (dollars in
thousands):

For the Year Ended Percent Increase
December 31, Increase (Decrease) (Decrease)
2007 to 2006 to 2007 to 2006 to
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2008 2007
Salaries, benefits and bonus $ 10924 $ 10310 $ 8294 $ 614 $ 2,016 6% 24%
Overhead and other expenses 2,860 2,680 2,423 180 257 7% 11%
Consulting 1,394 481 804 913 (323) 190% (40)%
Equity-based compensation 1,017 729 840 288 (111) 40% (13)%
Depreciation 936 1,004 731 (68) 273 (7% 37%
Total $ 17,131 $ 15204 $ 13,092 $ 1,927 $ 2,112 13% 16%

The major driver of higher research and development expenses in 2008 was new product initiatives, resulting in increased consulting expense
and increased compensation expense due to higher average headcount in 2008 compared to 2007. The increase in expenses for 2007 was due
primarily to increases in compensation costs as a result of additional personnel focused on product innovation and development. We had 102,
118 and 100 research and development personnel as of December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The decrease in headcount as of
December 31, 2008 was due primarily to the reduction in force described in Restructuring charge.

During 2006, we required a significant amount of temporary consulting services to complete certain research and development activities,
specifically in the area of software testing and validation. We reduced these external expenses during 2007 by hiring additional research and
development personnel.

In January 2009, we entered into a co-development and collaboration agreement with Toshiba, in which we will enter into a mutual license of
intellectual property and will jointly invest to develop and deliver innovative technology advancements for Toshiba s modalities and Vital Images
advanced visualization software solutions. We do not expect the agreement will have a material impact on our 2009 research and development
expense.

We expect research and development expenses to be between 23% and 25% of total revenue for the year ending December 31, 2009.

General and administrative

General and administrative expenses decreased $552,000, or 4%, to $14.0 million in 2008, compared to $14.6 million in 2007, which was a 34%
increase from $10.9 million in 2006. The change in general and administrative expense is as follows (dollars in thousands):
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2006 to
2007

847
741
1,446

For the Year Ended
December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2007 to
2008 2007 2006 2008
$ 5,101 $ 5,716 $ 4,869 $ ©615) $
3,516 3,170 2,429 346
3,142 3,197 1,751 (55)
2,249 2,477 1,856 (228)

$ 14,008 $ 14560 $ 10905 $ (552) %

621
3,655

Percent Increase
(Decrease)
2007 to
2008

(11)%
11%
2)%
(9)%
4%

2006 to

17%
31%
83%
33%
34%

Salaries, benefits and bonus and equity-based compensation decreased for 2008, compared to 2007, as 2007 included an $885,000 pre-tax charge
related to the separation of our former Chief Executive Officer. Of this charge, $580,000 is included in salaries, benefits and bonus and $305,000
is included in equity-based compensation for 2007. Professional and consulting services for 2007 increased due to international expansion and

higher accounting, audit and legal expenses. Overhead expenses increased both years due to the increase in infrastructure. We had 47, 52 and 50

general and administrative personnel as of December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The decrease in headcount as of December 31,

2008 was due primarily to the reduction in force described in Restructuring charge.
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We expect general and administrative expenses to be approximately 18% to 19% of total revenue for the year ending December 31, 2009.

Restructuring charge

During 2008, we continued to experience the effects of the industry-wide slowdown in the high-end CT market and the Deficit Reduction Act
that significantly impacted our 2007 results. Additionally, in 2008, we were impacted by the general decline in the U.S. economy, which resulted
in contracted capital spending by U.S. hospitals and lower interest rates on our cash and investments. We reduced our workforce by
approximately 11% under a plan announced in November 2008 in order to align our operations with the current market conditions and improve
profitability in 2009 and beyond. We expect that the effect of the restructuring activities will reduce employee costs by approximately $4.0
million to $5.0 million in 2009, compared to 2008.

In connection with the reduction in workforce, we incurred certain charges in 2008 totaling $660,000, which were primarily comprised of
employee severance and other termination costs. The following table summarizes 2008 restructuring transactions and related liability balances
(in thousands):

Severance and

Other
Termination
Costs
Balance at January 1, 2008 $
Restructuring charges 660
Payments (519)
Balance at December 31, 2008 $ 141

Actions with respect to the above activities were completed in the fourth quarter of 2008, and we do not anticipate any additional charges related
to the restructuring plan announced in November 2008.

Interest income

We generated $4.6 million of interest income in 2008, compared to $8.9 million in 2007 and $3.3 million in 2006. A decline in interest rates
resulted in a 2.9% return on investments in 2008 compared to a 5.1% and 4.5% return on investments in 2007 and 2006, respectively. During the
fourth quarter of 2006, we completed a public offering of 3.4 million shares of common stock, resulting in net proceeds of $97.7 million, which
contributed to increased interest income beginning in the first quarter of 2007.

Interest income is significantly impacted by changes in interest rates. We anticipate significantly lower interest rates in 2009 compared to 2008
due to general market conditions; interest rate changes would have a significant impact on results.
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Income taxes

Our effective income tax rates were 46%, 20% and 36% in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The fluctuations in our effective tax rates for
2008, 2007 and 2006 were due primarily to the relative impact of research and development credits on lower pretax income in 2007.

Our effective income tax rate may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter due to the relative proximity to breakeven of our results before
taxes. For 2009, we expect an effective tax rate of approximately 40% to 60%. Due to the utilization of deferred tax assets relating to net
operating losses and tax deductions from the exercise of stock options, we do not anticipate paying any significant cash for federal income taxes
for the next three to four years. Actual results could accelerate or defer the utilization of our deferred tax assets. Additional information
regarding income taxes and deferred tax assets is included in Deferred taxes of Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations Critical accounting policies and estimates.
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Liquidity and capital resources

The following table sets forth certain relevant measures of our liquidity and capital resources (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2008 2007
Cash and cash equivalents $ 109,706 $ 146,685
Marketable securities 37,287 31,709
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 146,993 $ 178,394
Working capital $ 135,417 $ 173,905
Debt $ $

The decrease in our net cash position as of December 31, 2008, compared to December 31, 2007, is primarily due to $38.2 million of share
repurchases in 2008 under our $40.0 million share repurchase program implemented in 2008 and completed in February 2009. On March 3,
2009, we announced an additional share repurchase program, authorizing up to an additional 1.0 million shares to be repurchased on the open
market.

We believe our existing cash and investments will satisfy our foreseeable working capital requirements for at least the next 12 months.
Additionally, we believe our liquidity and strong balance sheet enable us to execute our repurchases of common stock while still investing in our
enterprise solution and marketing strategy and remaining well positioned to pursue strategic acquisitions if and when they emerge.

We have investments in marketable securities that are classified and accounted for as available-for-sale. Market conditions during 2008 and

2009 indicate significant uncertainty on the part of investors on the economic outlook for the U.S. and for financial institutions that have

potential exposure to the sub-prime housing market. Our corporate debt included $257,000 and $3.0 million of asset-backed securities as of
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The net unrealized gains (losses) on asset-backed securities were $(7,000) and $(19,000) as of
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Our asset-backed securities are rated AAA and are current on scheduled pay downs, with expected

full maturity within the next 12 months. For further information about the risks associated with our investments, see the Market Risk section and
the section entitled Risk Factors.

Summary of Cash Flows

A summary of cash flows is as follows (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006
Cash provided by (used in)
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Operating activities $ 8,581 $ 13,902 $ 14,771
Investing activities (10,246) (15,870) 1,382
Financing activities (35,314) 4,271 107,384
Net change in cash and cash equivalents $ 36,979 $ 2,303 $ 123,537

Operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased $5.3 million in 2008, compared to 2007, due to a $4.2 million decrease in net income and a
$1.9 million decrease in non-cash operating items, offset by a $791,000 increase due to the timing of other receipts and payments in the
ordinary course of business.

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased $869,000 in 2007, compared to 2006, primarily due to a $5.2 million decrease in net income,
offset by a $1.4 million increase in non-cash operating items and a $2.9 million increase due to the timing of other receipts and payments in the
ordinary course of business.

Investing activities

We used $10.2 million for cash and investing activities in 2008. Net cash used by investing activities was $15.9 million in 2007. Net cash
provided by investing activities was $1.4 million in 2006.
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We used $5.4 million, $6.6 million and $6.4 million for purchases of property and equipment in 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. The purchases for all periods were principally to expand our facilities and upgrade computer equipment
and to purchase computer equipment for new personnel. Additionally, in 2007, we began the implementation of an
enterprise resource planning ( ERP ) system. We continued implementation of the ERP during 2008 and expect to
continue to incur costs in future periods as we complete subsequent phases of the implementation. We anticipate that
we will continue to purchase property and equipment in the normal course of business. The amount and timing of
these purchases and the related cash outflows in future periods are difficult to predict and depend on a number of
factors, including the hiring of employees and the rate of change of computer hardware.

We used $76.3 million, $60.0 million and $29.5 million to purchase investments in marketable securities during 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. We realized $71.6 million, $50.7 million and $37.4 million of proceeds from maturities and sales of
marketable securities during 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The marketable securities consist of U.S. government
obligations, U.S. government agency obligations, corporate commercial obligations and certificates of deposits.

Financing activities

Cash used by financing activities totaled $35.3 million for 2008, compared to cash provided by financing activities of $4.3 million and $107.4
million for 2007 and 2006, respectively. The primary use of cash in 2008 was for the repurchase of $38.2 million of our
common stock under our $40.0 million share repurchase program initiated in 2008. The cash provided by financing
activities in 2007 resulted primarily from the exercise of stock options granted under our stock plans and upon the
exercise of warrants. The cash provided by financing activities in 2006 related primarily to the $97.7 million in net
proceeds from our public offering of 3.4 million shares of common stock.

We have never paid or declared any dividends and do not intend to pay dividends in the near future.

The following summarizes our contractual obligations at December 31, 2008 and the effect such obligations are expected to have on our
liquidity and cash flow in future periods (in thousands).

More than 5
Total 1 Year or Less 1to 3 Years 3to 5 Years Years

Operating leases $ 3,067 $ 1,154 $ 1,837 $ 76 $

Off-balance-sheet arrangements
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We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2008 or 2007.

Purchase commitments

We had no significant outstanding purchase orders as of December 31, 2008. We have entered into a number of technology licensing agreements
that provide for the payment of royalties when we sell Vitrea, ViTALConnect and ViTAL Enterprise; we are not obligated for any minimum
payments under such agreements.

Foreign currency transactions

Our export sales are primarily negotiated, invoiced and paid in U.S. dollars, with a portion of sales transactions denominated in foreign
currencies. As we expand our direct business internationally, we expect to enter into a higher percentage of sales transactions in foreign
currencies and could be subject to greater gains or losses based on exchange rate fluctuations.

Inflation

We believe inflation has not had a material effect on our operations or financial condition.

Recent accounting pronouncement

Information regarding new accounting pronouncements is included in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risk refers to the risk that a change in the level of one or more market prices, interest rates, indices, volatilities, correlations or other
market factors such as liquidity will result in losses for a certain financial instrument or group of financial instruments. We do not hold or issue
financial instruments for trading purposes, and we do not enter into forward financial instruments to manage and reduce the impact of changes in
foreign currency rates because, as disclosed above, our export sales are primarily negotiated, invoiced and paid in U.S. dollars, with a small
percentage of sales transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Based on the controls in place and the relative size of the financial
instruments entered into, we believe the risks associated with not using these instruments would not have a material adverse effect on our
consolidated financial position or results of operations.

In addition, we do not engage in speculative transactions and do not use derivative instruments or engage in hedging activities. See the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of our accounting policies and other information related to these financial instruments.

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to market risks, including changes in interest rates and price changes, which could affect our
operating results.

Interest rate risk

We place our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, which generally have a term of less than one year, with a high-quality financial
institution and have investment guidelines relative to diversification and maturities designed to maintain safety and liquidity. As of

December 31, 2008, we had cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities totaling $147.0 million. If, during 2008, average short-term interest
rates decreased by 1.0% from 2008 average rates, based on our quarterly average balance of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities,
our projected interest income from short-term investments would have decreased by approximately $1.6 million.

Foreign currency risk

Our export sales are primarily negotiated, invoiced and paid in U.S. dollars, with a portion of sales transactions denominated in foreign
currencies. Therefore, fluctuations in the value of the dollar as compared to other foreign currencies have not had a significant effect on our
results of operations or financial condition. As we expand our direct business internationally, we expect to enter into a higher percentage of sales
transactions in foreign currencies and could be subject to greater gains or losses based on exchange rate fluctuations.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
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Our financial statements and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm thereon, all of which are included in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, are listed in Item 15(a)(1) of this Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or
submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ( Exchange Act ), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required financial disclosure.

Our management, under the supervision of and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of the end
of the period covered by this report. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as
of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
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Management s report on internal control over financial reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Because of its inherent limitations,
internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with
established policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management, under the supervision of and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of the end of the period covered by this report based on the criteria
established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO). Based on the results of this evaluation, we concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of the end of the
period covered by this report.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included in Item 15(a)(1) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

There were no changes in internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2008 that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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Part III

Certain information required by Part III is omitted from this Annual Report on Form 10-K because we will file a definitive Proxy Statement
relating to our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to Schedule 14A (the Proxy Statement ) not later than 120 days after the end of the
fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and certain information included therein is incorporated herein by reference as

indicated below.

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of Registrant

The information required by this Item 10 will be included under the captions Election of Directors and Information Concerning Directors,
Nominees and Executive Officers in our Proxy Statement for our 2009 annual meeting of shareholders. Information concerning the compliance
of our officers, directors and 10% shareholders with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is incorporated by reference to the
information to be contained in the 2009 proxy statement under the caption Information Concerning Directors Nominees and Executive Officers
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance. The information regarding Audit Committee members and Audit Committee
Financial Experts is incorporated by reference to the information to be contained in the 2009 proxy statement under the caption Information
Concerning Directors Nominees and Executive Officers Board Committees. The information regarding our Code of Business Ethics is
incorporated by reference to the information to be contained in the 2009 proxy statement under the heading Information Concerning Directors
Nominees and Executive Officers Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information under the captions Information Concerning Directors Nominees and Executive Officers ~Executive Compensation and
Information Concerning Directors Nominees and Executive Officers Director Compensation to be contained in the 2009 proxy statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters

The information under the captions Beneficial Ownership of Common Stock and Information Concerning Directors, Nominees and Executive
Officers Securities Authorized for Issuers Under Equity Compensation Plans to be contained in the 2009 proxy statement is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
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The information under the caption Information Concerning Directors, Nominees and Executive Officers to be contained in the 2009 proxy
statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information under the caption Ratification of Appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm to be contained in the 2009 proxy statement is incorporated herein by reference.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following Consolidated Financial Statements of Vital Images, Inc. and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

thereon are included herein:

(€))

(@)

3

(b) Exhibits

Included in Item 15(a)(3) above.

Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 41
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31. 2008 and 2007 42

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31. 2008, 2007 and
2006 43
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity and Comprehensive Income (L.oss) for the
years ended December 31. 2008, 2007 and 2006 44

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31. 2008. 2007 and
2006 45

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 46

All other schedules to the Consolidated Financial Statements required by Article 12 of
Regulation S-X are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and
therefore have been omitted.

Listing of Exhibits

The Exhibits required to be a part of this Report are listed in the Index to Exhibits.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be
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Signatures

signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Minneapolis, Minnesota, on the 16th day of March, 2009.

By:

Vital Images, Inc.

/s/Peter J. Goepfrich
Peter J. Goepfrich
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirement of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and

on the dates indicated.

Signature

/s/ Michael H. Carrel
Michael H. Carrel
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Richard W. Perkins
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Vital Images, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, of stockholders equity and
comprehensive income (loss) and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Vital Images, Inc. and its
subsidiaries at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on
criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements and
on the Company s internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota

March 16, 2009
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Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Accounts receivable, net
Deferred income taxes
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Deferred income taxes
Other intangible assets, net
Goodwill

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation
Accrued royalties
Other current liabilities
Deferred revenue

Total current liabilities
Deferred revenue
Deferred rent

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note 4)

Stockholders equity:

Vital Images, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Preferred stock: $0.01 par value; 5,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding
Common stock: $0.01 par value; 40,000 shares authorized; 14,673 issued and outstanding
as of December 31, 2008; and 17,153 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31,

2007
Additional paid-in capital
(Accumulated deficit) retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Total stockholders equity
Total liabilities and stockholders equity

December 31,
2008

109,706 $
37,287
13,047
654
2,179
162,873
11,519
13,904
808
9,089

198,193 $

3,792 $
2,936
1,057
1,947
17,724
27,456
1,164
882
29,502

147
168,738
(380)
186
168,691
198,193 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2007

146,685
31,709
15,962

3,472
2,441

200,269

11,165
8,621
1,852
9,089

230,996

3,330
3,092
1,113
2,282
16,547
26,364
1,140
1,276
28,780

172
199,625
2,420
(1
202,216
230,996
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Vital Images, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except for per share amounts)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Revenue:
License fees $ 34,290 $ 39,673 $ 46,332
Maintenance and services 32,436 29,487 22,615
Hardware 1,415 1,016 1,565
Total revenue 68,141 70,176 70,512
Cost of revenue:
License fees 4,922 4,725 4,991
Maintenance and services 10,089 9,928 8,023
Hardware 862 694 1,196
Impairment of patent 242
Total cost of revenue 15,873 15,589 14,210
Gross profit 52,268 54,587 56,302
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 30,294 31,991 25,374
Research and development 17,131 15,204 13,092
General and administrative 14,008 14,560 10,905
Restructuring charge 660
Total operating expenses 62,093 61,755 49,371
Operating (loss) income (9,825) (7,168) 6,931
Interest income 4,643 8,886 3,342
(Loss) income before income taxes (5,182) 1,718 10,273
(Benefit) provision for income taxes (2,382) 351 3,690
Net (loss) income $ (2,800) $ 1,367 $ 6,583
Net (loss) income per share  basic $ (0.17) $ 0.08 $ 0.49
Net (loss) income per share  diluted $ (0.17) $ 0.08 $ 0.46
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic 16,155 16,972 13,463
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted 16,155 17,457 14,259

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Balances as of December 31,
2005

Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of stock options
Tax benefit related to exercise
of stock options and release of
restricted stock

Issuance of common stock
under employee stock
purchase plan

Grant of restricted stock to
employees

Forfeiture or cancellation of
restricted stock

Common stock surrendered
for payment of payroll tax
liability resulting from the
vesting of restricted stock
Issuance of common stock as
contingent consideration
related to the acquisition of
Hinnovation (See note 3)
Issuance of common stock in
connection with public
offering, net of offering costs
of $6,271

Stock-based compensation
Reclassification of deferred
compensation pursuant to
FAS123R

Change in unrealized gain or
loss on investments, net of tax
Cumulative translation
adjustment

Net income

Balances as of December 31,
2006

Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of stock options
Tax benefit related to exercise
of stock options and release of
restricted stock

Issuance of common stock
under employee stock
purchase plan

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
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Common Stock

Shares

12,848

564

16

34

“

10)

106

3,354

16,908

221

27

Amount

128

34

169

Vital Images, Inc.

(In thousands)

Additional

Paid-In

Capital

75918

5,168

4,403

364

(292)

3,083

97,669
5,063

(1,707)

189,669

2,352

1,443

521

Deferred

Retained Accumulated
Earnings / Other
(Accumulated Comprehensive
Income /
Compensation Deficit) (Loss)
(1,707) (5,530) (20)
1,707
27
4
6,583
1,053 11

Total
Stockholders

Equity

68,789

5,174

4,403

364

(292)

3,084

97,703
5,063

27

4

6,583

190,902

2,355

1,443

521

Comprehensive

Income (Loss)

$ 27
4

6,583

$ 6,614
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Grant of restricted stock to
employees

Forfeiture or cancellation of
restricted stock

Common stock surrendered
for payment of payroll tax
liability resulting from the
vesting of restricted stock
Stock-based compensation
Change in unrealized gain or
loss on investments, net of tax
Cumulative translation
adjustment

Net income

Balances as of December 31,
2007

Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of stock options
Tax benefit related to exercise
of stock options and release of
restricted stock

Issuance of common stock
under employee stock
purchase plan

Grant of restricted stock to
employees

Forfeiture or cancellation of
restricted stock

Common stock surrendered
for payment of payroll tax
liability resulting from the
vesting of restricted stock
Stock-based compensation
Repurchases of common stock
Change in unrealized gain or
loss on investments, net of tax
Net loss

Balances as of December 31,
2008
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14
5)
(12) (347)
5,987
®)
4)
1,367
17,153 172 199,625 2,420 D)
243 2 1,927
50
43 490
30
27
(12) (174)
5,007
(2,757) @7 (38,187)
187
(2,800)
14,673 $ 147 $ 168,738 $ $ (380) $ 186 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(347)
5,987

®)

“)
1,367

202,216

1,929

50

490

(174)
5,007
(38,214)

187
(2,800)

168,691

$

$

$

$

®)

“)
1,367

1,355

187
(2,800)

(2,613)
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Vital Images, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss) income $ (2,800) $ 1,367 $ 6,583
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 4,919 4,517 2,910
Amortization of identified intangible assets 1,044 1,205 1,404
Impairment of patent 242
Provision for doubtful accounts 519 239 25
Deferred income taxes (2,521) (16) 3,472
Excess tax benefit from stock transactions (481) (1,395) (4,143)
Amortization of discount and accretion of premium on marketable
securities 473) (857) (382)
Employee stock-based compensation 5,007 5,987 5,045
Non-employee stock-based compensation 18
Amortization of deferred rent (375) (338) (195)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 2,396 3,388 (5,284)
Prepaid expenses and other assets 262 (513) (701)
Accounts payable 623 (363) 836
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (740) (1,142) 193
Deferred revenue 1,201 1,382 4,429
Deferred rent 199 561
Net cash provided by operating activities 8,581 13,902 14,771
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (5,434) (6,577) (6,436)
Purchases of marketable securities (76,395) (59,974) (29,545)
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities 70,002 49,931 35,987
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 1,581 750 1,376
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (10,246) (15,870) 1,382
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repurchases of common stock (38,214)
Proceeds from sale of common stock under stock plans 2,419 2,876 5,538
Proceeds from sale of common stock, net of offering costs 97,703
Excess tax benefit from stock transactions 481 1,395 4,143
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (35,314) 4,271 107,384
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (36,979) 2,303 123,537
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 146,685 144,382 20,845
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 109,706 $ 146,685 $ 144,382

Supplemental cash flow information:
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Purchases of property and equipment with accounts payable $ 366 $ 525
Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Common stock issued relating to acquisition of HInnovation, Inc. (see

Note 3) $ $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Vital Images, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Business description

Vital Images, Inc. (the Company ) is a leading provider of advanced visualization and image analysis solutions for use by medical professionals
in clinical analysis and therapy planning for medical conditions. The Company provides software, customer education, software maintenance
and support, professional services and, on occasion, third-party hardware to its customers. The Company s technology rapidly transforms
complex data generated by diagnostic imaging equipment into functional digital images that can be manipulated and analyzed using its
specialized applications to better understand internal anatomy and pathology. The Company s solutions are designed to improve physician
workflow and productivity, enhance the ability to make clinical decisions, facilitate less invasive patient care, and complement often significant
capital investments in diagnostic imaging equipment made by its customers. The Company s software is compatible with equipment from all
major manufacturers of diagnostic imaging equipment, such as computed tomography, or CT, scanners, and can be integrated into picture
archiving and communication systems, or PACS. Many hospitals use PACS to acquire, distribute and archive medical images and diagnostic
reports, reducing the need for film and increasing reliance on advanced visualization solutions such as the Company s. The Company also offers
a Web-based solution that provides physicians with anywhere, anytime access to medical images and visualization tools through any
Internet-enabled computer.

The Company views its operations and manages its business as one reportable segment the development and marketing of software and related
services for advanced visualization and analysis solutions for use by medical professionals in clinical analysis and therapy planning. Factors
used to identify the Company s single operating segment include the financial information available for evaluation by the chief operating
decision maker in making decisions about how to allocate resources and assess performance. The Company markets its products and services
through a direct sales force and independent distributors in the United States and international markets.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of presentation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
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liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Fair value of financial instruments

The Company s financial instruments consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities, for which the current carrying
amounts approximate fair market values.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and temporary investments with maturities of 90 days or less when purchased. The carrying amount of
cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the short maturity of these instruments.

Marketable securities

Management determines the appropriate classification of marketable securities at the time of purchase and reevaluates such designation as of
each balance sheet date. Currently, all marketable securities held by the Company are classified as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale
securities are carried at fair value as determined by quoted market prices or, in the case of the Company s corporate debt, using matrix pricing
techniques, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a separate component of stockholders equity. If an unrealized loss for any
investment is considered to be other-than-temporary, the loss will be recognized in the consolidated income statement in the period the
determination is made. The cost basis of securities sold is determined using the specific
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identification method. The cost of marketable securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. Such
amortization and accretion is included in interest income. Interest and dividends on securities classified as available-for-sale are included in
interest income. As of December 31, 2008, all investments mature within one year.

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company s marketable securities were as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007
Adjusted Cost Aggregate Fair Net Unrealized Adjusted Aggregate Fair Net Unrealized
Basis Value Gains / (Losses) Cost Basis Value Gains / (Losses)
Corporate debt ~ $ 2,253 $ 2,255 $ 2 $ 9,993 $ 9,975 $ (18)
Government
debt 34,742 35,032 290 21,717 21,734 17
$ 36,995 $ 37,287 $ 292 $ 31,710 $ 31,709 $ (@))

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company s gross unrealized gains and losses were as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Net Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized Net Unrealized

Gains (Losses) Gains / (Losses) Gains (Losses) Gains / (Losses)
Corporate debt ~ $ 9 $ @ $ 2 $ 2 $ 20 3 (18)
Government
debt 290 290 17 17

$ 299 $ @) $ 292 $ 19 $ (20) $ @))

The carrying values of available-for-sale securities are at fair value. There were no material realized gains or losses on any investments for the
years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 or 2006.

Corporate debt included $257,000 and $3.0 million of asset-backed securities as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The net
unrealized losses on asset-backed securities were $(7,000) and $(19,000) as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The Company s
asset-backed securities are rated AAA and are current on scheduled pay downs, with expected full maturity within the next 12 months. Given the
current conditions of the credit markets, there is some risk the unrealized losses as of December 31, 2008 could increase if the credit markets

continue to deteriorate.

The Company analyzes its investments for impairment on an ongoing basis. Factors considered in determining whether an unrealized loss is a
temporary loss or an other-than-temporary loss include the length of time and extent to which the securities have been in an unrealized loss
position and the Company s ability and intent to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated market recovery.
The Company has the ability and intent to hold these investments until anticipated recovery of fair value, which may be maturity, and therefore
the Company does not consider these investments to be impaired as of December 31, 2008.

87



Edgar Filing: VITAL IMAGES INC - Form 10-K

Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts

Accounts receivable are initially recorded at a selling price, which approximates fair value upon the sale of goods or services to customers. The
Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts to reflect accounts receivable at net realizable value. In judging the adequacy of the
allowance for doubtful accounts, the Company considers multiple factors, including historical bad debt experience, the general economic
environment, the need for specific client reserves and the aging of the Company s receivables. A portion of this provision is included in operating
expenses as a general and administrative expense and a portion of this provision is included as a reduction of license revenue. A considerable
amount of judgment is required in assessing these factors. If the factors utilized in determining the allowance do not reflect future performance,
then a change in the allowance for doubtful accounts would be necessary in the period such determination has been made, which would impact
future results of operations.
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Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and
trade accounts receivable. Deposits with the Company s bank may exceed the amount of insurance provided on such deposits. Financial
instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and marketable
securities. Marketable securities consist of corporate debt and government debt. The Company s investment policy, approved by its Investment
Committee, limits the amount the Company may invest in any one type of investment, thereby reducing credit risk concentrations. A significant
portion of the Company s accounts receivable relates to Toshiba Medical Systems Corporation and McKesson Corporation, totaling 42% and 7%
of accounts receivable, respectively. The Company reviews the creditworthiness of its customers prior to product shipment and generally does
not require collateral.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the related asset s estimated useful
life, generally three to seven years. Equipment is generally depreciated over three to seven years, furniture and fixtures are generally depreciated
over seven years, computer software is generally depreciated over three to seven years, and leasehold improvements are amortized over the
shorter of their estimated useful lives or the remaining terms of the related leases. The asset cost and related accumulated depreciation or
amortization are adjusted for asset retirement or disposal, with the resulting gain or loss, if any, credited or charged to results of operations.

Long-lived assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be
recoverable, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ( SFAS ) No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets. Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable include, but are not limited to,
a significant decrease in the market value of the business or asset acquired, a significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which the
business or asset acquired is used, or a significant adverse change in the business climate. If such events or changes in circumstances are present,
the undiscounted cash flows method is used to determine whether the asset is impaired. Cash flows would include the estimated terminal value

of the asset and exclude any interest charges. To the extent the carrying value of the asset exceeds the undiscounted cash flows over the

estimated remaining life of the asset, the impairment is measured using the discounted cash flows. The discount rate utilized would be based on
management s best estimate of the related risks and return at the time the impairment assessment is made.

Goodwill

The Company accounts for goodwill in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Under SFAS
No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. The first step of the goodwill impairment test, used to identify potential impairment,
compares the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. The Company operates as one reporting unit and
therefore compares the book value to the market value (market capitalization plus a control premium). If the market value exceeds the book
value, goodwill is considered not impaired, and thus the second step of the impairment test is not necessary. If the Company s book value
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exceeds the market value, the second step of the goodwill impairment test is performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. The
second step of the goodwill impairment test, used to measure the amount of impairment loss, compares the implied fair value of the goodwill
with the book value of the goodwill. If the carrying value of the goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill, an impairment loss
would be recognized in an amount equal to the excess. Any loss recognized cannot exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. The Company
completed the annual goodwill impairment assessment as of December 31, 2008, in which no impairment was recorded. If market conditions
continue to fluctuate, the Company may incur goodwill impairment charges that adversely affect its financial position and operating results.

Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with American Institute of Certified Public Accountants ( AICPA ) Statement of Position ( SOP )
97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, as amended by SOP 98-4 and SOP 98-9, as well as Technical Practice Aids issued from time to time by
the AICPA and SEC Staff Accounting
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Bulletin ( SAB ) No. 104. The Company recognizes revenue when it is realized or realizable and earned. The Company considers revenue
realized or realizable and earned when it has persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the product has been shipped or the services have been
provided to the customer, the sales price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is probable.

License fee revenue is derived from the licensing of computer software. Hardware revenue is derived from the sale of system hardware,
including peripheral equipment. Maintenance and service revenue is derived from software maintenance and from telephone support,
installation, customer education and consulting services. The Company s software licenses are generally sold as part of an arrangement that
includes maintenance and support and often installation and customer education services.

The Company licenses software and sells products and services to end users and also indirectly through original equipment manufacturers,
value-added resellers and independent distributors (collectively, Resellers ). Terms offered by the Company do not generally differ between end
users and Resellers. The Company generally offers terms that require payment within 30 to 90 days after product delivery. In rare situations
where the Company offers terms that require payment beyond 90 days after product delivery, revenue is deferred until the payment becomes
due. The Company does not generally offer rights of return or acceptance clauses to its customers. In rare situations where the Company
provides rights of return or acceptance clauses, revenue is deferred until the clause expires. The Company evaluates the credit worthiness of all
customers. In circumstances in which the Company does not have experience selling to a customer and lacks adequate credit information to
conclude that collection is probable, revenue is deferred until collection is reasonably assured and all other revenue recognition criteria in the
arrangement have been met. If all other revenue recognition criteria are met, license revenue from Resellers is recognized on a sell-in or
sell-through basis depending on the arrangement with the Reseller. The Company recognizes revenue from Resellers on a sell-in basis if the
Reseller 1) assumes all risk of the purchase, ii) has the ability and obligation to pay regardless of receiving payment from the end user, and iii) all
other revenue recognition criteria are met. The majority of revenue generated through Resellers has been on a sell-in basis. The following are
other revenue recognition criteria applied by the Company:

. Software and Hardware Revenue from license fees and hardware is recognized when shipment of the
product has occurred, no significant Company obligations with regard to implementation remain and the Company s
services are not considered essential to the functionality of other elements of the arrangement.

. Services Revenue from maintenance and support arrangements is deferred and recognized ratably over the
term of the maintenance and support arrangements. Revenue from customer education, installation and consulting
services is recognized as the services are provided to customers or upon contractual expiration of such services.

. Multiple-Element Arrangements The Company enters into arrangements with customers that include a
combination of software products, system hardware, maintenance and support (which includes unspecified upgrades),
or installation and customer education services. For such arrangements, the Company recognizes revenue using the
residual method. The Company allocates the total arrangement fee among the various elements of the arrangement
based on the fair value of each of the undelivered elements determined by vendor-specific objective evidence. The fair
value of installation and customer education services and maintenance and support services is established based upon
sold separately pricing for the services or stated renewal rate. In software arrangements for which the Company does
not have vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value for all elements, revenue is deferred until the earlier of when
vendor-specific objective evidence is determined for the undelivered elements (residual method) or when all elements
for which the Company does not have vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value have been delivered.
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Equity-based compensation

The Company accounts for equity-based compensation in accordance with SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment ( SFAS

No. 123(R) ), which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all equity-based payment awards made to employees
and directors, including employee stock options, restricted stock and employee stock purchases related to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan,
based on estimated fair values.

Equity-based compensation expense recognized under SFAS No. 123(R) for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $5.0
million, $6.0 million and $5.1 million, respectively.

SFAS No. 123(R) requires companies to estimate the fair value of equity-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing
model. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which requires the input
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of assumptions, including an estimate of the average period of time employees will retain vested stock options before exercising them, the
estimated volatility of the Company s common stock price over the expected term, and the number of options that will ultimately be forfeited
before completing vesting requirements. Changes in the assumptions can materially affect the estimate of fair value of equity-based
compensation and, consequently, the related expense recognized. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is
recognized as expense over the requisite vesting period.

Equity-based compensation expense recognized for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 included compensation expense for
equity-based payment awards granted on or prior to December 31, 2005 but not yet vested as of that date. Because equity-based compensation
expense recognized for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 is based on awards ultimately expected to vest, it has been reduced
for estimated forfeitures. SFAS No. 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent
periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.

The following table illustrates how equity-based compensation was allocated to the income statement as well as the effect on net income of all
equity-based compensation recognized under SFAS No. 123(R) (in thousands, except per share data):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Cost of revenue $ 333 $ 389 $ 372
Sales and marketing 1,408 2,392 1,995
Research and development 1,017 729 840
General and administrative 2,249 2,477 1,856
Equity-based compensation before income taxes 5,007 5,987 5,063
Income tax benefit (1,771) (1,964) (1,488)
Total equity-based compensation after income taxes $ 3,236 $ 4,023 $ 3,575

For purposes of calculating the fair value of options under SFAS No. 123(R), the weighted average fair value of options granted during 2008,
2007 and 2006 were $5.50, $13.47 and $13.58, respectively. The weighted-average fair values for the options were based on the fair values on
the dates of grant. The fair values for the options were calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, with the following
weighted-average assumptions and expense adjusted using the following expected forfeiture rate assumptions:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Expected option life 3.75 years 3.75 years 3.78 years
Expected volatility factor 46% 52% 52%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate 2.33% 4.46% 4.65%
Expected forfeiture rate 1% 1% 1%

Prior to March 9, 2006, the expected life of stock options was calculated by performing a detailed analysis of all historical stock option
information available. On March 9, 2006, the Company began to grant options with a five-year legal life instead of the eight-year legal life that it
had previously used. As a result, the Company has elected to use the simplified method as described in SAB No. 107 to estimate the expected
life of options granted on and after March 9, 2006. The Company will utilize the simplified method until sufficient historical information
becomes available on the five-year legal life options. The expected volatility is calculated based on the historical volatility of the Company s
common stock over the expected option life and other appropriate factors. The expected dividend yield is based on the Company s intent not to
issue dividends for the foreseeable future. Risk-free interest rates are calculated based on continuously compounded U.S. Treasury risk-free rates
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for the appropriate term. The expected forfeiture rate is estimated based on historical experience.
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As of December 31, 2008, there was $7.0 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to stock options that is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.0 years.

The Company has granted nonvested shares of common stock ( restricted stock ) to certain employees under its 1997 Stock Option and Incentive
Plan and 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan. With the exception of shares of restricted stock subject to performance vesting, as noted below,
restricted stock generally vests 25% annually beginning one year after the grant date. The Company records equity-based compensation expense
equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant ratably over the vesting period. Equity-based compensation expense
related to restricted stock was $491,000, $741,000 and $728,000 for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

In the first quarter of 2007, the Company granted shares of restricted stock with performance-based vesting to certain employees. The Company
granted a total of 13,500 restricted shares with a total grant-date fair value of $464,000. As of December 31, 2008, after forfeitures, 6,700
restricted shares with a total grant-date fair value of $230,000 remained outstanding. The awards vest upon achievement of certain Company
performance metrics for fiscal years 2007 through 2009. One-third of each award will vest on each of the Company s Form 10-K filing dates for
the years ending December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 if the performance metrics are met for the respective fiscal year. If the performance metrics
are not met for a given year, the unvested portion will carry forward to the next fiscal year and may vest if that year s metric is met. As of the
Company s Form 10-K filing date for the year ending December 31, 2009, any unvested portion of the award will be forfeited. The performance
metrics were not achieved for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007. Therefore, no equity-based compensation expense for the awards
was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007. The amount of the expense related to the awards not recognized as of
December 31, 2008 but which may be recognized in future periods if performance metrics are met was $139,000. The first quarter of 2007 was
the only period in which the Company granted restricted stock awards with performance-based vesting.

As of December 31, 2008, there was $612,000 of unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted stock awards that is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.3 years. The aggregate fair value of restricted stock that vested was $488,000 and $1.0 million
for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan ( ESPP ) compensation expense was $154,000 and $161,000 for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively.

The fair value of stock compensation expense associated with the Company s ESPP was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Expected life of ESPP options 3 months 3 months 3 months
Expected volatility factor 46% 51% 50%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate 1.81% 4.59% 4.64%

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company presented all tax benefits resulting from the exercise of stock options and settlement of
restricted stock awards as operating cash inflows in the consolidated statements of cash flows in accordance with the provisions of the Emerging
Issues Task Force ( EITF ) Issue No 00-15, Classification in the Statement of Cash Flows of the Income Tax Benefit Received by a Company
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upon Exercise of a Nonqualified Employee Stock Option. SFAS No. 123(R) requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess of the
compensation cost recognized for those options and stock awards to be classified as financing cash inflows rather than operating cash inflows on
a prospective basis. This amount is shown as Excess tax benefit from stock transactions on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

The Company s adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective application required the Company to determine the amount of
eligible windfall tax benefits (the pool of windfall tax benefits) that are available on the adoption date to offset future shortfalls. The Company
has elected to calculate its historical pool of windfall tax benefits (that is, the amount that would have accumulated as of the adoption date of
SFAS No. 123(R)) using the alternative ( short-cut ) method, as provided in FSP No. FAS 123(R)-3, and the tax law ordering approach to
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determine when the historic tax benefits are realized (tax benefits realized based on provisions in the tax law that identify the sequence in which
stock option deductions are utilized for tax purposes). The Company will continue to track the balance of the pool of windfall tax benefits based
on windfalls or shortfalls incurred after the adoption date.

Research and development costs

Costs related to research, design and development of products are charged to research and development expense as incurred. Software
development costs are capitalized beginning when a product s technological feasibility has been established and ending when a product is
available for general release to customers. The Company uses the working model approach to determine technological feasibility. Generally, the
Company s products are released soon after technological feasibility has been established. As a result, the Company has not capitalized any
software development costs because such costs have not been significant.

Income taxes

The Company provides for income taxes using the liability method under SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, which requires
recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial
statements. Under this statement, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and
tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets
are reduced by a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some component or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
Tax rate changes are reflected in income during the period such changes are enacted.

Computation of net income per share

Basic earnings per share is computed using net income and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per
share reflect the weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus any potentially dilutive shares outstanding during the period.
Potentially dilutive shares consist of shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and warrants, as well as unvested restricted stock.

The computations for basic and diluted net income per share are as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Numerator:
Net (loss) income $ (2,800) $ 1,367 $ 6,583
Denominator:
16,155 16,972 13,463
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Denominator for weighted average common shares
outstanding  basic

Dilution associated with the company s stock based
compensation plans

Dilution associated with contingent stock consideration
relating to acquisition of HInnovation, Inc. (see note 3)

Denominator:
Denominator for weighted average common shares
outstanding  diluted

Net (loss) income per share basic
Net (loss) income per share diluted

Antidilutive stock options and restricted stock awards
excluded from above calculation

485

16,155 17,457
(0.17) $ 0.08
(0.17) $ 0.08
2,515 809

52

@B P

779

17

14,259

0.49

0.46

379
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Comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) as defined by SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income, includes net income and items defined as other
comprehensive income. SFAS No. 130 requires that items defined as other comprehensive income, such as foreign currency translation
adjustments and unrealized gains and losses on certain marketable securities, be separately classified in the financial statements. Such items are
reported in the consolidated statements of stockholders equity as comprehensive income (loss).

New accounting pronouncements

FASB Staff Position ( FSP ) FAS No. 157-2, Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157, delayed the effective date of the application of SFAS
No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008 for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities that
are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a nonrecurring basis. Nonrecurring nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial
liabilities for which we have not applied the provisions of SFAS No. 157 include those measured at fair value during impairment testing for
goodwill and other long-lived assets and those initially measured at fair value in a business combination. The Company does not believe SFAS

No. 157 will have a material impact on the Company s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), Business Combinations, which changes accounting for business acquisitions. SFAS
No. 141(R) will require the acquiring entity in a business combination to recognize all (and only) the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in
the transaction and establish the acquisition-date fair value as the measurement objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a
business combination. Certain provisions of this standard will, among other things, impact the determination of acquisition-date fair value of
consideration paid in a business combination (including contingent consideration); exclude transaction costs from acquisition accounting; and
change accounting practices for acquired contingencies, acquisition-related restructuring costs, in-process research and development,
indemnification assets and tax benefits. SFAS No. 141(R) will be effective for the Company for business combinations occurring after
December 31, 2008. The impact on the Company s consolidated financial statements of adopting SFAS 141(R) will depend on the nature, terms
and size of business combinations completed after December 31, 2008.

In June 2008, the FASB issued FSP Emerging Issues Task Force ( EITF ) 03-6-1, Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based
Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities ( FSP EITF 03-6-1 ). FSP EITF 03-6-1 is effective for the Company in the first quarter of

2009. The Company does not expect that the adoption of FSP EITF 03-6-1 will have a material impact on the Company s consolidated financial
statements.

3. Financial statement components

Allowance for doubtful accounts

The allowance for doubtful accounts activity was as follows (in thousands):
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For the Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007
$ 505 $ 266 $
519 239
(386)
$ 638 $ 505 $
53

2006
320
25

@87

266
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Property and equipment, net

The components of property and equipment were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2008 2007
Equipment $ 13,551 $ 13,776
Furniture and fixtures 3,993 3,813
Computer software 7,572 4,543
Leasehold improvements 2,521 2,780
Total property and equipment 27,637 24,912
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (16,118) (13,747)
Property and equipment, net $ 11,519 $ 11,165

Depreciation and amortization expense was $4.9 million, $4.5 million and $2.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.

In 2007, the Company began the implementation of an enterprise resource planning ( ERP ) system. Phase 1 of the implementation, which related
to the replacement of the Company s general ledger, was completed in 2007. The related capitalized costs are being depreciated over seven years
and, as of December 31, 2008, the net book value of Phase 1 was $1.0 million. Phase 2 of the implementation, which consists of replacing the
Company s various customer relationship management and order processing systems, has yet to be completed or placed in service. As of
December 31, 2008, Phase 2 capitalized costs were $2.9 million. The Company will continue implementation of the ERP during 2009, and upon
completion of the implementation, the cost will be depreciated over seven years. If the Company does not reach certain milestones in the
implementation schedule, it may be required to write-off all or a portion of the amounts capitalized, which could negatively affect its financial
position and results of operations.

Other intangible assets, net

Acquired intangible assets subject to amortization were as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007
Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Value Amortization Value Value Amortization Value

Software technology $ 3,400 $ (3,334) $ 66 $ 3,400 $ (2,650) $ 750
Patents and patent

applications 2,500 (1,758) 742 2,500 (1,398) 1,102
Total intangible assets

subject to amortization $ 5,900 $ (5,092) $ 808 $ 5,900 $ (4,048) $ 1,852
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During the third quarter 2007, the Company recognized a $242,000 patent impairment charge related to a patent application acquired in the
HInnovation, Inc. acquisition in February 2004. This patent application was rejected by the United States Patent and Trademark Office ( USPTO )
on August 23, 2007, and the Company decided not to pursue this application further.

Intangible assets subject to amortization are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated period of benefit. Amortization expense was
$1.0 million, $1.2 million and $1.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The estimated future annual
amortization expense for identified intangible assets is as follows (in thousands):

2009 $ 426
2010 360
2011 22

$ 808

54
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The preceding expected amortization expense is an estimate. Actual amortization expense may differ from estimates due to additional intangible

asset acquisitions, impairment of intangible assets, accelerated amortization of intangible assets, and other events. A patent acquired in the
HlInnovation, Inc. acquisition having a $594,000 net book value as of December 31, 2008 is currently under review by the USPTO.

Goodwill

There were no changes to the carrying value of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007. Goodwill increased during 2006 due

to contingent consideration paid through the issuance of 106,000 shares of common stock valued at $3.1 million in connection with the

acquisition of HInnovation, Inc. on February 18, 2004.

Deferred revenue

The components of deferred revenue were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2008
Maintenance and support $ 13,912
Customer education 3,034
Professional services 788
Software 616
Hardware and other 538
Total deferred revenue 18,888
Less current portion (17,724)
Long-term portion of deferred revenue $ 1,164

4. Commitments and contingencies

Operating lease commitments

2007

12,376
3,311
762
755
483
17,687

(16,547)

1,140

The Company rents office space and certain office equipment under operating leases. In addition to minimum lease payments, the office leases
require payment of a proportionate share of real estate taxes and building operating expenses. Total rent expense, including an allocation of the
lessor s operating costs, was $1.8 million, $1.7 million and $1.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

In March 2004, the Company signed a non-cancelable operating lease for a new office facility in Minnetonka, Minnesota. The new lease term

started in February 2005 and expires in January 2012. The Company moved into the Minnetonka location and moved out of its Plymouth,
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Minnesota location in February 2005.

The Company recorded deferred rent of $1.6 million in the first quarter of 2005 relating to estimated payments by the Minnetonka lessor for the
benefit of the Company. Such payments are considered lease incentives under FASB Technical Bulletin ( FTB ) 88-1, Issues Relating to
Accounting for Leases, and are amortized as a reduction of rent expense over the term of the Minnetonka lease.

During the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company expanded its Minnetonka headquarters and received leasehold
improvements paid for by the Minnetonka lessor of $199,000 and $561,000, respectively. Such leasehold improvements were recorded as an
asset by the Company and amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the remaining terms of the related leases, with a
corresponding amount recorded as deferred rent and amortized as a reduction of rent expense over the term of the Minnetonka lease.

The deferred rent balance was $1.3 million ($394,000 was classified as current) and $1.7 million ($375,000 was classified as current) as of
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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The minimum lease payments, excluding estimated taxes and operating cost rent obligations, are approximately (in thousands):

2009 $ 1,154
2010 930
2011 907
2012 76
Total $ 3,067
Other items

Under general contract terms, the Company sometimes includes an indemnification clause in its software licensing agreement providing that the
Company will indemnify the licensee against liability and damages arising from any claims of patent, copyright, trademark or trade secret
infringement by the Company s software. The Company has incurred insignificant costs as a result of this type of indemnification clause, and the
Company does not maintain a product warranty liability related to such indemnification clauses.

The Company has entered into various employment agreements with certain executives of the Company, which include provisions for severance
payments subject to certain conditions and events.

The Company recorded an $885,000 charge in the fourth quarter of 2007 related to the resignation of Jay D. Miller, the company s former
president and chief executive officer, of which $580,000 related to 2008 cash payments and $305,000 related to equity-based compensation.

The Company is involved in various claims and legal actions in the normal course of business. Management is of the opinion that the outcome of
such legal actions will not have a significant adverse effect on the Company s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
Notwithstanding management s belief, an unfavorable resolution of some or all of these matters could materially affect the Company s future
results of operations or cash flows.

5. Stockholders equity

Background

On October 28, 1996, the Board of Directors of Bio-Vascular, Inc. ( Bio-Vascular ), now known as Synovis Life Technologies, Inc., the former
parent of the Company, approved a plan to spin off and establish the Company as an independent, publicly-owned company. On May 12, 1997

(the Distribution Date ), Bio-Vascular distributed all of the shares of the Company to the shareholders of Bio-Vascular (the Distribution ), and on
that date the Company began operating as an independent public company. All Bio-Vascular shareholders of record as of May 5, 1997 received

one share of the Company s common stock for each two shares of Bio-Vascular stock held on that date and cash in lieu of fractional shares.
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Share Repurchase Program

During 2008, the Company s Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program, which authorized open market transactions of up to $40.0
million, including fees and expenses, of the Company s common stock. The program authorizes management to repurchase shares from time to
time, depending on market conditions. During 2008, the Company completed stock repurchases of 2.8 million shares for $38.2 million, inclusive
of fees and expenses. At time of repurchase, shares are returned to the status of authorized and unissued shares. The Company has accounted for
the repurchases as constructively retired and recorded such repurchases as a reduction of common stock and additional paid-in capital.

The Company completed the $40.0 million share repurchase program on February 6, 2009. Between January 1, 2009 and February 6, 2009, the
Company purchased 149,000 shares under the program for $1.8 million, inclusive of fees and expenses, bringing the total aggregate shares
repurchased to 2.9 million shares. On March 3, 2009, the Company announced an additional share repurchase program, authorizing up to an
additional 1.0 million shares to be repurchased on the open market.

Public offering of common stock

During the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company completed a public offering of 3.4 million shares of common stock at $31.00 per share for total
gross proceeds of $104.0 million. After deducting offering costs of $6.3 million, the Company received net proceeds of $97.7 million.
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Stock option plans

In May 1997, Bio-Vascular, Inc., which is now known as Synovis Life Technologies, Inc., as the sole shareholder of the Company, approved
and adopted the Vital Images, Inc. 1997 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the 1997 Plan ), which became effective on the Distribution Date.
Under the terms of the 1997 Plan, the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board may grant options and other equity-based awards to key
employees to purchase shares of the Company s common stock at an option exercise price equal to or greater than 85% of the fair market value
on the date of grant. The options are exercisable at such times, in installments or otherwise, as the Board of Directors or a committee of the
Board may determine. Generally, these options have a term of five or eight years and are exercisable as to 28% of the total grant one year after
the date of grant and 2% per month thereafter. The total number of shares of common stock that may be issued or awarded under the 1997 Plan
was 4,100,000 shares. The 1997 Plan expired on March 19, 2007, and no more rights to purchase shares will be granted from it.

Also in May 1997, Bio-Vascular, as the sole shareholder of the Company, approved and adopted the Vital Images, Inc. 1997 Director Stock
Option Plan (the Director Plan ), which became effective on the Distribution Date. The Director Plan provides non-employee directors with
automatic grants of stock options and allows the Board of Directors to make additional discretionary option grants to any or all directors.
Options that are granted under the Director Plan are granted with an option price equal to the fair market value on the date of grant, have a term
of five or eight years, are non-qualified options, and become exercisable in three equal annual installments beginning on the first occurring
December 31 after the date of grant. The total number of shares of common stock that may be issued or awarded under the Director Plan was
500,000 shares. The Director Plan expired on March 19, 2007, and no more rights to purchase shares will be granted from it.

On May 4, 2006, the shareholders of the Company approved the Vital Images, Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the 2006 Plan ). The 2006
Plan provides that the total number of shares of the Company s common stock that may be subject to options, restricted stock awards and other
equity awards granted under the 2006 Plan shall not exceed 900,000 shares. On June 3, 2008, the shareholders of the Company approved an
amendment to the 2006 Plan to increase the shares reserved under the plan by 1.6 million shares, resulting in total shares reserved for issuance
under the 2006 Plan of 2.5 million shares. The 2006 Plan provides the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board the authority to grant
incentive stock options qualified as such under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and nonqualified stock options, awards of
restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, other equity-based awards, cash-based awards or any combination of such awards subject to the terms
of the 2006 Plan. As of December 31, 2008, 1,435,208 shares remained available for the grant of awards under the 2006 Plan.
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The following table summarizes stock option activity for 2008, 2007 and 2006:

Total outstanding as of December 31,
2005

Options granted
Options exercised
Options cancelled

Total outstanding as of December 31,
2006

Options granted
Options exercised
Options cancelled

Total outstanding as of December 31,
2007

Options granted
Options exercised
Options cancelled

Total outstanding as of December 31,
2008

Options exercisable as of:
December 31, 2006
December 31, 2007
December 31, 2008

Shares Underlying
Options

1,997,275

383,300
(564,286)
(19,110)

1,797,179
469,595
(220,604)
(64,766)
1,981,404
1,081,070

(242,525)
(367,090)

2,452,859

1,064,923
1,206,104
1,259,018

©@ L L ©* L L ©@ L L

©“ LB L

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Per
Share

11.45

31.15
9.17
23.33

16.24
30.99
10.68
26.66
20.03
14.77

7.95
23.93

18.32

11.39
14.71
18.98

Weighted-Average Aggregate
Remaining Intrinsic
Contractual Term Value (in
(in years) thousands)
325 $ 2,278
243§ 2,016

Various price ranges and weighted average information for options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2008 are as follows:

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted Average Weighted Weighted

Remaining Average Average

Range of Number Contractual Life Exercise Number Exercise

Exercise Prices Outstanding (in years) Price Exercisable Price

$ 5.19 - $12.23 472,057 2.62 $ 9.42 318,057 $ 8.07
$12.44 - $15.11 488,817 3.81 $ 14.47 121,537 $ 12.62
$15.17 - $15.40 444,502 4.19 $ 15.27 50,280 $ 15.40
$15.50 - $19.64 442,001 3.09 $ 17.55 366,282 $ 17.82
$19.80 - $32.14 461,020 2.65 $ 30.49 308,473 $ 30.28
$32.16 - $35.70 144,462 2.98 $ 33.34 94,389 $ 33.47
2,452,859 3.25 $ 18.32 1,259,018 $ 18.98
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The aggregate intrinsic value of options (that is, the amount by which the market price of the stock on the date of exercise exceeded the exercise
price of the option) exercised during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $1.5 million, $4.4 million and $12.8 million,
respectively. Cash received from the exercise of stock options for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $1.9 million, $2.4
million and $5.2 million, respectively. The total tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from options exercised for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $490,000, $1.5 million and $4.4 million, respectively.
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Restricted stock

The Company grants nonvested shares of common stock ( restricted stock ) to certain employees under the 1997 Plan and the 2006 Plan. The
restricted stock generally vests 25% annually beginning one year after the grant date. The following table summarizes the restricted stock
activity for the year ended December 31, 2008 and 2007:

Weighted-Average

Restricted Grant Date Fair

Shares Value Per Share
Total outstanding as of December 31, 2005 114,770  $ 17.61
Shares granted 33910 $ 31.76
Shares vested (29,226) $ 17.51
Shares forfeited/cancelled 3,777 $ 21.44
Total outstanding as of December 31, 2006 115,677 $ 21.65
Shares granted 14250 $ 34.21
Shares vested (35,677) $ 20.88
Shares forfeited/cancelled 4,647) $ 24.53
Total outstanding as of December 31, 2007 89,603 $ 23.81
Shares granted 30,000 $ 13.74
Shares vested (29,816) $ 20.98
Shares forfeited/cancelled (27,2100 $ 25.42
Total outstanding as of December 31, 2008 62,577 $ 19.63

The total tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from restricted stock vested during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was
$183,000, $368,000 and $315,000, respectively.

Employee stock purchase plan

The ESPP was approved and adopted by Bio-Vascular, as the sole shareholder of the Company, in May 1997. The ESPP, which became
effective on July 1, 1997, enables eligible employees to purchase the Company s common stock at a price equal to 85% of the fair market value
of the stock on the date an offering period commences or on the date an offering period terminates, whichever is lower. Shares of common stock
are offered under the ESPP during a series of offering periods, with each offering period running for a calendar quarter. On June 3, 2008, the
shareholders of the Company approved an amendment to the ESPP to increase, from 250,000 shares of common stock to 400,000 shares of
common stock, the number of aggregate shares of common stock that can be issued and sold to participating employees of the Company under
the ESPP. The ESPP covers substantially all employees, subject to certain limitations. Each employee may elect to have up to 10% of his or her
base pay withheld and applied toward the purchase of shares in each such offering period. As of December 31, 2008, 132,955 shares of common
stock remained reserved for future purchases under the ESPP.

6. Income taxes
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Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes ( FIN 48 ). FIN 48
prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in

a tax return. FIN 48 also provides guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and
transition. The adoption of FIN 48 did not have a material impact on the Company s Consolidated Financial Statements. Additionally, the
adoption of FIN 48 had no impact on retained earnings or the gross liability for uncertain tax positions. The Company had no uncertain tax
positions as of December 31, 2008 and 2007.

The Company did not have any material unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2008 and 2007. The Company recognizes potential
accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. To the extent interest and penalties are
not assessed with respect to uncertain tax positions, amounts accrued will be reduced and reflected as a reduction of the overall income tax
provision. The Company recorded no interest and penalties during the year ended December 31, 2008 and had no accrued interest and penalties
as of December 31, 2008. The Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal tax examinations by tax authorities for tax years before 2005. The
Company is open to state tax audits until the applicable statute of limitations expires.
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The components of income before income taxes were as follows (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Income before income taxes:
U.S. $ (5,710) $ 1,313 $ 9,951
International 528 405 322
(5,182) 1,718 10,273

The income tax provision included the following components (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Current income taxes:
Federal $ $ 112 $ 91
State 140 48
Foreign 139 115 79
139 367 218
Deferred income taxes:
Federal (2,296) 93 3,181
State (225) (109) 218
Foreign 73
(2,521) (16) 3,472
Provision for income taxes $ (2,382) $ 351 $ 3,690

A reconciliation of the Company s income tax provision computed using the federal statutory rate to the tax provision reported in the Company s
statements of operations is as follows (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Tax provision computed at the federal statutory rate $ (1,762) $ 584 $ 3,493

State taxes, net of federal benefit (132) 96 378

Increase (decrease) in tax from:

Stock-based compensation 52 244 334

Research and development tax credits (725) (682) (562)
Business meals and entertainment 119 119 75

Extraterritorial income exclusion (38)
Foreign tax rate differential 39) (23) (®)]
Change in valuation allowance 108 4) 25)
Other, net 3) 17 40

Provision for income taxes $ (2,382) $ 351 $ 3,690

60

112



Edgar Filing: VITAL IMAGES INC - Form 10-K

Table of Contents

The significant components of the Company s tax-effected net deferred tax assets were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2008 2007
Current:
Accrued expenses and allowances $ 760 $ 829
Equity-based compensation 2,643
Unrealized gain on investments (106)
Total current deferred tax asset 654 3,472
Noncurrent:
Equity-based compensation 3,736
Net operating loss carryforwards 4,418 4,221
Research and development tax credit carryforwards 4,285 3,579
Depreciation and amortization 1,286 952
Deferred revenue 425 416
Identifed intangible assets (295) 677)
Other 270 269
Total noncurrent deferred tax asset before valuation allowance 14,125 8,760
Total deferred tax asset before valuation allowance 14,779 12,232
Less valuation allowance (221) (139)
Total net deferred tax asset $ 14,558 $ 12,093

Deferred tax assets related to equity-based compensation as of December 31, 2008 were reclassified to noncurrent, as the Company does not
anticipate tax deductions from the related stock options during 2009. This is due to the fact that the majority of the stock options have exercise
prices that are significantly higher than the market price per share as of December 31, 2008.

Net operating loss carryforwards and other tax credit carryforwards

The Company had federal tax loss carryforwards of approximately $12.6 million, representing a $4.3 million deferred tax asset as of
December 31, 2008. The federal tax loss carryforwards will expire in 2019 through 2028 if not utilized. The Company estimates that it is more
likely than not that this deferred tax asset will be realized prior to expiration.

The Company had state tax loss carryforwards of approximately $2.2 million, representing a $125,000 deferred tax asset as of December 31,
2008. The state tax loss carryforwards will expire at various dates through 2024 if not utilized. The Company had an $18,000 valuation
allowance related to this deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2008 due to the uncertainty in realization prior to expiration.

The Company had other federal and state tax credits and carryforwards of approximately $4.6 million, representing a $4.6 million deferred tax
asset as of December 31, 2008. The federal and state credits and carryforwards will expire in 2009 through 2028 if not utilized. The Company
had a $203,000 valuation allowance related to this deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2008 due to the uncertainty in realization prior to
expiration for credits expiring 2012 and earlier. During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company wrote off $26,000 to the valuation
allowance related to research and development tax credits that had expired prior to realization.
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During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company reversed $4,000 of the valuation allowance relating to state tax loss carryforwards as it
was more likely than not that the deferred tax asset would be realized prior to expiration. During the year ended December 31, 2007, the
Company wrote off $42,000 to the valuation allowance related to research and development tax credits that had expired prior to realization.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company reversed $25,000 of the valuation allowance relating to state tax loss carryforwards, as
it was more likely than not that the deferred tax asset would be realized prior to expiration. During the year ended December 31, 2006, the
Company wrote-off $79,000 to the valuation allowance related to research and development tax credits that had expired prior to realization.

Realizability of Deferred Tax Assets

Significant judgment is required in determining the realizability of the Company s deferred tax assets. The Company must assess the likelihood
that the net deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income, and to the extent that the Company believes that recovery is not
likely, the Company must establish a valuation allowance. To the extent that the Company establishes a valuation allowance, the Company must
include an expense within the tax provision in the statement of operations. As of December 31, 2008, the consolidated balance sheet included net
deferred tax assets of $14.6 million.

Considerations for determining the realizability of the Company s deferred tax assets primarily involve cumulative pre-tax income for financial
reporting purposes, cumulative taxable income for the past three years, estimated future pre-tax income for financial reporting purposes and
estimated future taxable income from the Company s core business. The Company also considers the expiration dates and amounts of net
operating loss carryforwards and other tax credits, and estimates the impact of future tax deductions from the exercise of stock options. These
estimates are projected through the life of the related deferred tax assets based on assumptions which the Company believes to be reasonable and
consistent with current operating results.

As of December 31, 2008, the significant components of the Company s deferred tax assets were as follows:

. Deferred tax assets for net operating loss carryforwards and other tax credits of $8.7 million, which is net of a valuation allowance of
$221,000 relating to tax credits and certain state net operating loss carryforwards that expire prior to 2013. The Company requires
approximately $18.0 million in cumulative future taxable income to be generated at various times over the next 18 years to realize the related
deferred tax assets prior to expiration.

. Deferred tax asset related to equity based compensation of $3.7 million. Many of the stock options related to this deferred tax asset are
currently significantly out-of-the money and may expire unutilized during the next six years. The Company s projections of future taxable
income have taken into consideration the Company s expectations that a portion of these out-of-the money options will not result in future tax
deductions and will not reduce future taxable income.

After giving consideration to the above factors, the Company concluded that the net deferred tax assets of $14.6 million as of December 31,
2008 do not require any additional valuation allowance. However, if the Company does not achieve a substantial improvement in pretax results
in 2009 over 2008, it is reasonably possible that the Company may need to establish additional valuation allowances for some or all of the
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Company s deferred tax assets, which could materially impact the Company s income tax provision, financial position and results of operations.

Net operating loss carryforward limitations

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, certain stock transactions which significantly change ownership, including the sale of
stock and the granting of options to purchase stock, could limit the amount of net operating loss carryforwards that may be utilized on an annual
basis to offset taxable income in future periods. Management believes that any past changes in ownership, as defined by Section 382, would not
materially impact the Company s ability to utilize loss carryforwards.

7. Employee benefit plan

The Company maintains the Vital Images, Inc. Salary Savings Plan (the Plan ), which is intended to qualify under Section 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The Plan covers substantially all employees. Each employee may elect to contribute to the Plan through
payroll deductions up to 100% of his or her salary, subject to certain limitations. At the discretion of the Board of Directors, the Company

may make matching contributions equal to a percentage of the salary reduction contributions or other discretionary amounts. The Company paid
matching contributions of $412,000, $410,000 and $214,000 in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

8. Restructuring charge

The Company reduced its workforce by approximately 11% under a plan announced in November 2008 in order to align the Company s
operations with the
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current market conditions and improve profitability in 2009 and beyond. In connection with the reduction in workforce, the Company incurred
certain charges in 2008 totaling $660,000, which were primarily comprised of employee severance and other termination costs. The following
table summarizes 2008 restructuring transactions and related liability balances (in thousands):

Severance and

Other
Termination
Costs
Balance at January 1, 2008 $
Restructuring charges 660
Payments (519)
Balance at December 31, 2008 $ 141

Actions with respect to the above activities were completed in the fourth quarter of 2008.

9. Fair Value Measurements

The Company adopted SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, as of January 1, 2008, with the exception of the application of SFAS No. 157
to nonrecurring nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities. Nonrecurring nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities to which we have

not applied the provisions of SFAS No. 157 include those measured at fair value during impairment testing for goodwill and other long-lived
assets and those initially measured at fair value in a business combination.

SFAS No. 157 establishes a valuation hierarchy for disclosure of the inputs to valuation used to measure fair value. This hierarchy prioritizes the
inputs into three broad levels. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are
quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly
through market corroboration, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs based on our
own assumptions used to measure assets and liabilities at fair value. A financial asset s or liability s classification within the hierarchy is
determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

The following table provides the assets and liabilities carried at fair value measured on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2008 (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2008 Using

Total Carrying Quoted price in Significant other Significant
Value at active markets observable inputs unobservable inputs
December 31, 2008 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents:
Money market $ 102,877 $ 102,877 $ $
Marketable securities:
Corporate debt 2,255 1,998 257
Government debt 35,032 35,032
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Total marketable securities 37,287 37,030 257
Total cash equivalents and
marketable securities $ 140,164 $ 139,907 $ 257 $

Cash equivalents and marketable securities measured at fair value using quoted market prices are classified within Level 1 of the valuation
hierarchy. Marketable securities classified within Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy consist
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of asset-backed securities for which significant observable market data exists but the Company s nonstandard lot sizes prevent measurement
using quoted market prices. The valuation of asset-backed securities is determined by reviewing quoted market prices for traded lots of the same
or similar securities. All asset-backed securities held by the Company are rated AAA and are current on scheduled pay downs with expected full
maturity within the next 12 months. Given the current conditions of the credit markets, there is some risk the unrealized losses as of

December 31, 2008 could increase if the credit markets continue to deteriorate.

The Company analyzes its investments for impairment on an ongoing basis. Factors considered in determining whether an unrealized loss is a
temporary loss or an other-than-temporary loss include the length of time and extent to which the securities have been in an unrealized loss
position and the Company s ability and intent to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated market recovery.
The Company has the ability and intent to hold these investments until anticipated recovery of fair value, which may be maturity, and therefore
the Company did not consider these investments to be other than temporarily impaired as of December 31, 2008.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, which permits entities
to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not currently required to be measured at fair value.
The Company adopted SFAS No. 159 on January 1, 2008 and has elected not to measure any additional financial instruments and other items at
fair value.

10. Major customers and geographic data

Customers accounting for more than 10% of the Company s total revenue are as follows (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Toshiba Medical Systems Corporation $ 35,275 $ 32,710 $ 28,879
Percentage of total revenue 52% 47% 41%
McKesson Corporation $ 4,516 $ 6,061 $ 7,314
Percentage of total revenue 7% 9% 10%

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, Toshiba Medical Systems Corporation accounted for 42% and 34% of accounts receivable, respectively.

The majority of the Company s long-lived assets are located in the United States.

Export revenue accounted for 29%, 19% and 15% of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The
Company s export sales are primarily negotiated, invoiced and paid in U.S. dollars, with a portion of sales transactions denominated in foreign
currencies.
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Sales to customers located in the following geographic areas are summarized as follows (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
United States $ 48,473 $ 56,630 $ 59,640
Europe 11,316 8,378 5,713
Asia and Pacific Region 3,643 2,380 2,520
Canada 1,401 349 441
Other foreign countries 3,308 2,439 2,198
$ 68,141 $ 70,176 $ 70,512
64
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11. Selected quarterly financial data (unaudited)

The following summarized unaudited quarterly financial data has been prepared using the financial statements of the Company (in thousands,
except per share data):

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
2008
Total revenue $ 17,317 $ 15,707 $ 17,679 $ 17,438
Gross profit $ 13,397 $ 12,106 $ 13,619 $ 13,146
Net loss $ (594) $ (1,577) $ 243) $ (386)
Loss per share  basic (1) $ 0.03) $ (0.09) $ 0.02) $ (0.03)
Loss per share  diluted (1) $ 0.03) $ (0.09) $ 0.02) $ (0.03)
2007
Total revenue $ 20,825 $ 15,534  $ 17,115 $ 16,702
Gross profit $ 16,430 $ 11,842 $ 13,329 $ 12,936
Net income (loss) $ 2,372 $ (379) $ 9227 $ (1,553)
Earnings (loss) per share  basic (1) $ 0.14 $ (0.02) $ 005 $ (0.09)
Earnings (loss) per share  diluted (1) $ 0.14 $ (0.02) $ 005 $ (0.09)
(1) The sum of the quarterly earnings (loss) per share may not equal the annual earnings per share due to changes
in average shares outstanding.
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2008.*

Offer letter dated August 5, 2008 by and between Vital Images, Inc. and Vikram Simha, filed herewith.*

Employment Agreement dated August 6, 2008 by and between Vital Images, Inc. and Vikram Simha, filed herewith.*

Change in Control Agreement dated August 6, 2008, by and between Vital Images, Inc. and Vikram Simbha, filed herewith.*

Offer letter dated December 10, 2008 by and between Vital Images, Inc. and Reza A. Ghanbari, filed herewith.*

Employment Agreement dated December 10, 2008 by and between Vital Images, Inc. and Reza A. Ghanbari, filed herewith.*
Change in Control Agreement dated December 10, 2008, by and between Vital Images, Inc. and Reza A. Ghanbari, filed herewith.*

Marketing and Distribution Agreement between Vital Images, Inc. and Toshiba Medical Systems Corporation dated November 21,
2008, filed herewith. B

Development Agreement between Vital Images, Inc. and Toshiba Medical Systems Corporation dated January 8, 2009, filed
herewith.

Subsidiaries of Registrant, filed herewith.
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, filed herewith.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewith.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewith.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewith.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewith.

p

Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Portions of such exhibit are treated as confidential pursuant to a request for that confidential treatment filed

with the Commission by Vital Images.
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